

# Moduli spaces of bundles over non-projective K3 surfaces

Arvid Perego, Matei Toma

#### ▶ To cite this version:

Arvid Perego, Matei Toma. Moduli spaces of bundles over non-projective K3 surfaces. 2016. hal-01269780

### HAL Id: hal-01269780

https://hal.science/hal-01269780

Preprint submitted on 5 Feb 2016

**HAL** is a multi-disciplinary open access archive for the deposit and dissemination of scientific research documents, whether they are published or not. The documents may come from teaching and research institutions in France or abroad, or from public or private research centers. L'archive ouverte pluridisciplinaire **HAL**, est destinée au dépôt et à la diffusion de documents scientifiques de niveau recherche, publiés ou non, émanant des établissements d'enseignement et de recherche français ou étrangers, des laboratoires publics ou privés.

## MODULI SPACES OF BUNDLES OVER NON-PROJECTIVE K3 SURFACES

#### ARVID PEREGO, MATEI TOMA

ABSTRACT. We study moduli spaces of sheaves over non-projective K3 surfaces. More precisely, if  $v=(r,\xi,a)$  is a Mukai vector on a K3 surface S with r prime to  $\xi$  and  $\omega$  is a "generic" Kähler class on S, we show that the moduli space M of  $\mu_{\omega}$ —stable sheaves on S with associated Mukai vector v is an irreducible holomorphic symplectic manifold which is deformation equivalent to a Hilbert scheme of points on a K3 surface. If M parametrizes only locally free sheaves, it is moreover hyperkähler. Finally, we show that there is an isometry between  $v^{\perp}$  and  $H^2(M,\mathbb{Z})$  and that M is projective if and only if S is projective.

#### Contents

1. Introduction	2
Acknowledgements	4
2. Moduli spaces of stable sheaves	4
2.1. The stability condition	5
2.2. The <i>v</i> -genericity for Kähler forms	6
3. Projective K3 surfaces with non-ample polarizations	9
3.1. Changing polarization in a chamber	9
3.2. Conclusion for projective K3 surfaces	9
4. Moduli spaces of stable twisted sheaves	11
4.1. Twisted sheaves and stability	11
4.2. Genericity for polarizations	17
4.3. Moduli space of stable twisted sheaves	21
4.4. Deformation of stable twisted sheaves along twistor line	s 25
4.5. Relative moduli space of twisted sheaves on twistor lines	s 28
4.6. Moduli spaces of locally free sheaves	33
5. The second integral cohomology	34
References	40

Date: February 5, 2016.

 $2010\ Mathematics\ Subject\ Classification.\ 14D20,\ 32G13,\ 53C26.$ 

Key words and phrases. moduli spaces of sheaves; twisted sheaves; K3 surfaces.

#### 1. Introduction

Moduli spaces of sheaves on projective K3 surfaces have been studied since the '80s. In [9] Fujiki considered the Hilbert scheme  $Hilb^2(S)$  of 2 points on a K3 surface S; his result was widely generalized by Beauville in [4], who studied  $Hilb^n(S)$  for any  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ , showing that it is an irreducible hyperkähler manifold, i.e. a compact Kähler manifold which is simply connected, holomorphically symplectic and has  $h^{2,0} = 1$ .

Moduli spaces of  $\mu$ -stable sheaves are a generalization of Hilbert schemes of points, and they have been extensively studied when the base surface S is a projective K3 surface. In [28] Mukai showed that on the moduli space M of simple sheaves of Mukai vector  $v = (r, c_1(L), a)$  (i.e. of rank r, determinant L and second Chern character a - r), there is a natural holomorphic symplectic form associated to the one on S. This moduli space M is a non-separated scheme containing as a smooth open subset the moduli space  $M_v^{\mu}(S, H)$  of  $\mu_H$ -stable sheaves (with respect to some ample line bundle H on S) of Mukai vector v; Mukai's construction thus produces a holomorphic symplectic form on  $M_v^{\mu}(S,\omega)$ .

If H is generic and r and L are prime to each other, then  $M_v^{\mu}(S, H)$  is a projective holomorphically symplectic manifold. Moreover, it is an irreducible hyperkähler manifold deformation equivalent to a Hilbert scheme of points on S (see [30] and [42]).

If S is a non-projective K3 surface and  $\omega$  is a Kähler class on it, one still defines the notion of  $\mu_{\omega}$ -stable sheaf and constructs the moduli space  $M_v^{\mu}(S,\omega)$  of  $\mu_{\omega}$ -stable sheaves of Mukai vector v. In [36] it is shown that  $M_v^{\mu}(S,\omega)$  is a smooth complex manifold carrying a holomorphic symplectic form. If  $\omega$  is generic and r is prime with  $c_1(L)$ , then  $M_v^{\mu}(S,\omega)$  is even compact (see subsection 2.2 for the precise notion of genericity we use for Kähler classes, called v-genericity in analogy to the projective case).

It is natural to ask if  $M_v^{\mu}(S,\omega)$  is irreducible symplectic, and in this case what is its deformation class. We first show the following:

**Theorem 1.1.** Let S be a K3 surface,  $v = (r, \xi, a) \in H^*(S, \mathbb{Z})$  where  $\xi \in NS(S)$ , r > 1 prime with  $\xi$  and  $v^2 \ge 0$ . Suppose  $\omega$  to be v-generic.

- (1) The moduli space  $M_v^{\mu}(S,\omega)$  is a compact, connected complex manifold of dimension  $v^2 + 2$  which is holomorphically symplectic and deformation equivalent to a Hilbert scheme of points on a projective K3 surface.
- (2) On  $H^2(M_v^{\mu}(S,\omega),\mathbb{Z})$  there is a non-degenerate quadratic form, and there is an isometry between  $H^2(M_v^{\mu}, \mathbb{Z})$  and  $v^{\perp}$  if  $v^2 > 0$ (resp.  $v^{\perp}/\mathbb{Z}v$  if  $v^2=0$ ).

The condition  $v^2 \geq 0$  implies that  $M_n^{\mu}(S, \omega) \neq \emptyset$  (see [2], [33], [23]). As recalled above, if S is projective and  $\omega = c_1(H)$  for a generic ample line bundle H we even know that  $M_n^{\mu}(S,\omega)$  is an irreducible symplectic manifold. To prove Theorem 1.1, we study the two remaining cases: Sis projective and  $\omega \notin NS(S)$ ; and S is non-projective.

When S is projective and  $\omega$  is not the first Chern class of an ample line bundle, we show that there is a v-generic ample line bundle Hsuch that  $M_n^{\mu}(S,\omega) = M_n^{\mu}(S,H)$ . This is done by showing that the v-chamber in which  $\omega$  lies intersects the ample cone, and that moving the polarization inside a v-chamber does not affect the moduli space.

When S is non-projective, the strategy to prove Theorem 1.1 is to deform  $M_n^{\mu}(S,\omega)$  along the twistor family  $\mathcal{X} \longrightarrow \mathbb{P}^1$  of  $(S,\omega)$ : even if the sheaves in  $M_n^{\mu}(S,\omega)$  do not necessarily deform along such a twistor family, we can still deform them as twisted sheaves.

We then provide a construction of a relative moduli space of stable twisted sheaves extending Yoshioka's construction in [43] to nonprojective base manifolds and we show that we can connect the K3 surface S to a projective K3 surface S' only by means of twistor lines, in such a way that  $M_v^{\mu}(S,\omega)$  deforms to  $M_v^{\mu}(S',\omega')$  for some v-generic polarization  $\omega'$  on S'. Theorem 1.1 holds true even if we replace  $M_v^{\mu}(S,\omega)$ with a moduli space of stable twisted sheaves.

The non-degenerate quadratic form on  $H^2(M_n^{\mu}(S,\omega),\mathbb{Z})$  is defined as a quadratic form on the second complex cohomology using the same definition of the Beauville form, the only difference being that we have to fix one holomorphic symplectic form to define it as a priori we have  $h^{2,0} \geq 1$ . We then show that it is non-degenerate. The construction of the isometry with  $v^{\perp}$  is standard, and uses the same strategy as in the projective case.

As one might see from the statement on Theorem 1.1, there is only one missing property for  $M_n^{\mu}(S,\omega)$  to be an irreducible symplectic manifold; namely, we don't know if  $M_n^{\mu}(S,\omega)$  is Kähler. This is a longstanding problem: on the open subset  $M_v^{\mu-lf}(S,\omega)$  of  $M_v^{\mu}(S,\omega)$ parametrizing locally free sheaves we have a natural Kähler metric, the Weil-Petersson metric, cf. [19], [20], but at present nothing is known as to how this metric could extend to a Kähler metric on the whole  $M_v^{\mu}(S,\omega)$ .

The strategy to prove Theorem 1.1 together with [13, Theorem 3.3] may be employed to obtain another proof of the existence of a Kähler metric on  $M_v^{\mu-lf}(S,\omega)$  and of a description of a twistor family for such a hyperkähler metric. But, as pointed to us by Daniel Huybrechts, this strategy does not allow to show that  $M_v^{\mu}(S,\omega)$  carries a Kähler metric too. Let us remark however that there are choices of Mukai vectors for which  $M_v^{\mu}(S,\omega)$  coincides with  $M_v^{\mu-lf}(S,\omega)$  and is therefore a compact irreducible hyperkähler manifold. Moreover such compact moduli spaces of stable locally free sheaves may acquire any positive even complex dimension; see Proposition 4.27.

As an application of the previous result, we will show the following projectivity criterion for the moduli spaces of slope-stable sheaves on a K3 surface:

**Theorem 1.2.** Let S be a K3 surface,  $v = (r, \xi, a) \in H^{2*}(S, \mathbb{Z})$  where  $\xi \in NS(S)$ ,  $r \geq 2$ ,  $(r, \xi) = 1$  and  $v^2 \geq 0$ . If  $\omega$  is a v-generic polarization, the moduli space  $M_v^{\mu}(S, \omega)$  is projective if and only if S is projective.

**Acknowledgements.** We are grateful to Daniel Huybrechts for pointing out to us a mistake in a previous version of this paper. We also thank the referee for his remarks and suggestions which significantly contributed to improve the exposition.

#### 2. Moduli spaces of stable sheaves

In the following S will be a K3 surface, possibly non-projective. If  $\mathscr F$  is a coherent sheaf on S, we let the  $Mukai\ vector$  of  $\mathscr F$  be

$$v(\mathscr{F}) := ch(\mathscr{F}) \cdot \sqrt{td(S)} \in H^{2*}(S, \mathbb{Z}).$$

If  $v_i$  is the component of  $v(\mathscr{F})$  in  $H^{2i}(S,\mathbb{Z})$ , we have  $v_0 = rk(\mathscr{F})$ ,  $v_1 = c_1(\mathscr{F})$  and  $v_2 = ch_2(\mathscr{F}) + rk(\mathscr{F}) = \frac{1}{2}c_1^2(\mathscr{F}) - c_2(\mathscr{F}) + rk(\mathscr{F})$ , which will be viewed as an integer (i.e. we fix an isomorphism  $H^4(S,\mathbb{Z}) \simeq \mathbb{Z}$ ).

We recall that on  $H^{2*}(S,\mathbb{Z})$  we have a pure weight-two Hodge structure and a lattice structure with respect to the Mukai pairing (see Definitions 6.1.5 and 6.1.11 of [15]): the obtained lattice will be referred to as *Mukai lattice*, and we will write  $v^2$  for the square of  $v \in H^{2*}(S,\mathbb{Z})$  with respect to the Mukai pairing. Explicitly,  $v^2 = v_1^2 - 2v_0v_2$ .

When  $v_0 \neq 0$  we define the discriminant of v, or respectively of  $\mathscr{F}$  in case  $v = v(\mathscr{F})$ , as

$$\Delta(v) := \frac{1}{2v_0^2}v^2 + 1,$$

This coincides with the definition of [2] for instance, where

$$\Delta(\mathscr{F}) = \Delta(v(\mathscr{F})) = \frac{1}{rk(\mathscr{F})} \left( c_2(\mathscr{F}) - \frac{rk(\mathscr{F}) - 1}{2rk(\mathscr{F})} c_1^2(\mathscr{F}) \right).$$

2.1. The stability condition. Let g be a Kähler metric on S and  $\omega$ the associated Kähler class, that will be called a polarization on S. If  $\mathscr{F} \in Coh(S)$  has positive rank, the slope of  $\mathscr{F}$  with respect to  $\omega$  is

$$\mu_{\omega}(\mathscr{F}) := \frac{c_1(\mathscr{F}) \cdot \omega}{rk(\mathscr{F})}.$$

**Definition 2.1.** A torsion-free coherent sheaf  $\mathscr{F}$  is  $\mu_{\omega}$ -stable if for every coherent subsheaf  $\mathscr{E} \subseteq \mathscr{F}$  such that  $0 < rk(\mathscr{E}) < rk(\mathscr{F})$  we have  $\mu_{\omega}(\mathscr{E}) < \mu_{\omega}(\mathscr{F})$ . If  $\mu_{\omega}(\mathscr{E}) \leq \mu_{\omega}(\mathscr{F})$  for all such subsheaves  $\mathscr{E}$ , then we say that  $\mathscr{F}$  is  $\mu_{\omega}$ -semistable.

The family of  $\mu_{\omega}$ -stable sheaves of Mukai vector v admits a moduli space  $M_{\nu}^{\mu}(S,\omega)$ . If S is projective and  $\omega$  is the first Chern class of an ample line bundle H, then  $M_v^{\mu}(S,\omega)$  is the moduli space  $M_v^{\mu}(S,H)$  of  $\mu_H$ -stable sheaves on S with Mukai vector v. We have the following proposition dealing also with the non-projective case (see [36]).

**Proposition 2.2.** Let S be a K3 surface,  $v \in H^{2*}(S, \mathbb{Z})$  a Mukai vector and  $\omega$  a polarization on S. The moduli space  $M_n^{\mu}(S,\omega)$  is a smooth, holomorphically symplectic manifold (possibly non-compact) and, if it is not empty, its dimension is  $v^2 + 2$ .

In the following we will restrict to the case of those  $M_{\nu}^{\mu}(S,\omega)$  which are non-empty and compact. We introduce in the next section some hypothesis on v and  $\omega$  under which  $M_v^{\mu}(S,\omega)$  is compact. We now present a condition which guarantees its non-emptyness, and even the existence of a stable vector bundle with respect to any polarization.

Recall that over any non-algebraic surface there exist non-filtrable holomorphic rank two vector bundles (see [2], [34] p.18). By definition they do not admit coherent subsheaves of rank one, hence they are stable with respect to any polarization.

We now extend this type of result to arbitrary rank in the case of Kähler surfaces. Following [2] we say that a coherent sheaf on the surface S is *irreducible* if its only coherent subsheaf of lower rank is the zero sheaf. In particular, an irreducible sheaf is stable with respect to any polarization. We have the following result, about the existence of locally free irreducible vector bundles.

**Proposition 2.3.** Let S be a Kähler non-algebraic compact complex surface, r a positive integer and  $\xi \in NS(S)$ . Then there exists a bound  $b := b(r, \xi) \in \mathbb{Z}$  depending on r and on  $\xi$  such that for any integer  $c \geq b$  there is on S an irreducible locally free sheaf  $\mathscr{F}$  of rank r,  $c_1(\mathscr{F}) = \xi$  and  $c_2(\mathscr{F}) = c$ .

Proof. If r=2, a statement of this type is proved in [2] and in [34] without the Kähler assumption. The idea there was to look at the versal deformation space of a rather arbitrary coherent sheaf  $\mathscr{F}$  and show that if  $c_2\gg 0$  then  $\mathscr{F}$  must contain irreducible objects. For r>2 we shall this time consider deformations of suitably chosen coherent sheaves and make essential use of the fact that S is Kähler. In this way we shall reduce ourselves to the argument used by Bănică and Le Potier in the case when the algebraic dimension of S is zero, [2, Théorème 5.3].

We proceed by induction on r. The statement is trivial for r=1 and already proven for r=2. Let then  $r\geq 3$  and suppose that the statement is true for rank r-1. Take an irreducible locally free sheaf  $\mathscr E$  on S of rank r-1,  $c_1(\mathscr E)=\xi$  and  $c_2(\mathscr E)=c$ . Consider an irreducible component B of the versal deformation space of  $\mathscr F_0:=\mathscr O_S\oplus\mathscr E$  and the corresponding family  $\mathscr F$  of coherent sheaves over  $S\times B$ .

We shall check that if  $c \gg 0$ , the relative Douady space  $D_{(X\times B)/B}(\mathscr{F},k)$  of flat quotients of rank k of  $\mathscr{F}$  over B does not cover B for  $1 \leq k \leq r-1$ . Let  $b: D_{(X\times B)/B}(\mathscr{F},k) \to B$  be the natural morphism and  $Q \subset B$  a relatively compact subdomain of B containing the origin  $0 \in B$ . Fujiki proved in [10] that any irreducible component of  $b^{-1}(Q)$  is proper over Q. By another result of Fujiki in [8], there are countably many such components.

The idea is to show by a dimension count that very general neighbours of  $\mathscr{F}_0$  are not in the image of  $D_{(X\times B)/B}(\mathscr{F},k)$  for  $2\leq k\leq r-2$ . Remark that if  $\mathscr{F}_b$  is such a neighbour sitting in a short exact sequence

$$0 \to F' \to \mathscr{F}_b \to F'' \to 0$$

with F'' torsion-free, then F' and F'' are irreducible of different ranks, hence Hom(F', F'') = 0 = Hom(F'', F'). This remark makes the arguments in the proof of [2, Théorème 5.3] work by replacing the corresponding inequality in loc. cit. Lemme 5.12. Hence our statement.  $\square$ 

2.2. The v-genericity for Kähler forms. Let S be a K3 surface and  $\mathscr{K}_S$  its Kähler cone, which is an open and convex cone in  $H^{1,1}(S)$ . For  $v = (r, \xi, a)$  with  $r \geq 2$  and  $\xi \in NS(S)$ , we define a system of hyperplanes in  $H^{1,1}(S)$ , which is locally finite in  $\mathscr{K}_S$  and has the property that for any  $\omega \in \mathscr{K}_S$  not lying on such hyperplanes, a torsion free sheaf  $\mathscr{F}$  on S with  $v(\mathscr{F}) = v$  is  $\mu_{\omega}$ -stable if and only if it is  $\mu_{\omega}$ -semistable. Polarizations verifying this will be called v-generic.

2.2.1. The notion of v-genericity. To start, let S be any compact Kähler surface and fix  $r, c_2 \in \mathbb{Z}$ ,  $c_1 \in NS(S)$  and suppose r > 0. We let  $\tau := (r, c_1, c_2)$ , and if  $\mathscr{F} \in Coh(S)$  of rank r and Chern classes  $c_1$  and  $c_2$ , we call  $\tau$  the topological type of  $\mathscr{F}$ . If S is a K3 surface and  $\mathscr{F} \in Coh(S)$  has Mukai vector  $v = (r, \xi, a)$ , its topological type is  $\tau_v = (r, \xi, \xi^2/2 + r - a).$ 

Notice that the discriminant  $\Delta(\mathscr{F})$  only depends on the topological type of  $\mathscr{F}$ , hence we can talk about the discriminant  $\Delta(\tau)$  of  $\tau$ : more precisely, if  $\tau = (r, c_1, c_2)$  then

$$\Delta(\tau) = \frac{1}{r} \left( c_2 - \frac{r-1}{2r} c_1^2 \right).$$

We set

$$W_{\tau} := \{ D \in NS(S) \mid -\frac{r^4}{2} \Delta(\tau) \le D^2 < 0 \}$$

and for every  $\alpha \in H^{1,1}(S)$  we write

$$\alpha^{\perp} := \{ \beta \in H^{1,1}(S) \mid \alpha \cdot \beta = 0 \}.$$

When  $\alpha \neq 0$ , the set  $\alpha^{\perp}$  is a hyperplane in  $H^{1,1}(S)$ . Using the same argument of Lemma 4.C.2 of [15], one shows that if  $\beta \in H^{1,1}(S)$ , then there is a open neighbourhood U of  $\beta$  in  $H^{1,1}(S)$  such that  $U \cap D^{\perp} \neq \emptyset$ for at most a finite number of  $D \in W_{\tau}$ . If the surface S is K3, we will use the notation  $W_v$  for  $W_{\tau_v}$ .

**Definition 2.4.** For every  $D \in W_{\tau}$ , the hyperplane  $D^{\perp} \cap \mathscr{K}_{S}$  will be called  $\tau$ -wall in the Kähler cone of S. A connected component of  $\mathscr{K}_S \setminus \bigcup_{D \in W_\tau} D^\perp$  is an open convex cone called  $\tau$ -chamber in the Kähler cone of S. A Kähler class in a  $\tau$ -chamber of  $\mathcal{K}_S$  is called  $\tau$ -generic polarization.

If S is a K3 surface and v is a Mukai vector, we will call v-wall in the Kähler cone (resp. v-chamber in the Kähler cone, v-generic polarization) a  $\tau_v$ -wall in the Kähler cone (resp. a  $\tau_v$ -chamber in the Kähler cone, a  $\tau_v$ -generic polarization).

Recall that the ample cone of S is  $Amp(S) = \mathscr{K}_S \cap NS_{\mathbb{R}}(S)$  (where  $NS_{\mathbb{R}}(S) = NS(S) \otimes \mathbb{R}$ : if S is a projective K3 surface and  $\mathcal{C} \subseteq \mathcal{K}_S$  is a v-chamber in the Kähler cone of S, then  $\mathcal{C} \cap NS_{\mathbb{R}}(S)$  is a v-chamber in the ample cone of S in the usual terminology: if H is an ample line bundle on S, then  $c_1(H)$  is a v-generic polarization if and only if H is v-generic as in [15].

2.2.2. Compactness of  $M_v^{\mu}(S,\omega)$  when  $\omega$  is v-generic. Using the same proof as in the projective case (see Theorem 4.C.3 of [15]), we show that v-generic polarizations enjoy the above stated property concerning the existence of properly semistable sheaves.

**Lemma 2.5.** Let  $\omega$  be a Kähler class on a compact Kähler surface S, and  $\mathscr{F}$  a  $\mu_{\omega}$ -semistable sheaf of topological type  $\tau = (r, \xi, c_2)$ . Suppose that there is  $\mathscr{E} \subseteq \mathscr{F}$  of rank 0 < s < r, first Chern class  $\zeta$  and such that  $\mu_{\omega}(\mathscr{E}) = \mu_{\omega}(\mathscr{F})$ . Then  $D := r\zeta - s\xi$  is such that

$$-\frac{r^4}{2}\Delta(\tau) \le D^2 \le 0,$$

and  $D^2 = 0$  if and only if D = 0.

Proof. We can suppose that  $\mathscr E$  is saturated, so that  $\mathscr G := \mathscr F/\mathscr E$  is torsion free,  $\mu_\omega$ —semistable and of rank r-s. Notice that as  $\mu_\omega(\mathscr E) = \mu_\omega(\mathscr F)$ , we have  $D \cdot \omega = 0$ . As  $\omega$  is a Kähler class, from the Hodge Index Theorem we then have  $D^2 \leq 0$ , and  $D^2 = 0$  if and only if D = 0. We then just need to show that  $D^2 \geq -\frac{r^4}{2}\Delta(\tau)$ .

By definition of the discriminant, it follows that

$$\Delta(\mathscr{F}) - \frac{s}{r}\Delta(\mathscr{E}) - \frac{r-s}{r}\Delta(\mathscr{G}) = -\frac{D^2}{2s(r-s)r^2}.$$

Now, recall that the Bogomolov inequality is surely satisfied by  $\mathscr{E}$  and  $\mathscr{G}$ , so that  $\Delta(\mathscr{E}), \Delta(\mathscr{G}) \geq 0$ . But this implies that

$$-D^{2} \leq 2s(r-s)r^{2}\Delta(\mathscr{F}) = 2s(r-s)r^{2}\Delta(\tau) \leq \frac{r^{4}}{2}\Delta(\tau),$$

and we are done.  $\Box$ 

Using the main result of [36] we then get the following:

**Proposition 2.6.** Let S be a K3 surface,  $r \geq 2$  an integer and  $\xi \in NS(S)$  such that  $(r,\xi) = 1$ . Let  $a \in \mathbb{Z}$ ,  $v := (r,\xi,a)$  and  $\omega$  a v-generic polarization. If  $M_v^{\mu}(S,\omega) \neq \emptyset$ , then it is a smooth, compact, holomorphically symplectic manifold.

*Proof.* The statement follows from the main result of [36] if S is non-algebraic. When S is projective we shall show in section 3.1 that there exists some integer ample class H in the same v-chamber as  $\omega$ . The (semi)stability with respect to  $\omega$  or with respect to H will then come down to the same thing and  $M_v^{\mu}(S,\omega)$  will coincide with the Gieseker moduli space  $M_v(S,H)$  of H-semistable sheaves, which is known to be smooth, projective and holomorphically symplectic (see [15]).  $\square$ 

#### 3. Projective K3 surfaces with non-ample polarizations

In this section we prove that if S is a projective K3 surface, v = $(r,\xi,a)$  is a Mukai vector with  $(r,\xi)=1$  and  $\omega$  is a v-generic polarization, then  $M_n^{\mu}(S,\omega)$  is an irreducible holomorphically symplectic manifold, deformation equivalent to a Hilbert scheme of points on S.

3.1. Changing polarization in a chamber. We first show that changing polarization inside a chamber does not affect the moduli space. The following adaptation of Lemma 4.C.5 from [15] to the case of Kähler polarizations works also on Kähler manifolds; see [11] Lemma 6.2.

**Lemma 3.1.** Let  $\omega$ ,  $\omega'$  be two Kähler classes on a compact Kähler manifold X and  $\mathscr{F}$  be a torsion free sheaf on X which is  $\mu_{\omega}$ -stable but not  $\mu_{\omega'}$ -stable. Denote by

$$[\omega, \omega'] := \{\omega_t := t\omega' + (1-t)\omega \mid t \in [0, 1]\}$$

the segment from  $\omega$  to  $\omega'$ . Then there is a Kähler class  $\omega_t \in [\omega, \omega']$  such that  $\mathscr{F}$  is properly  $\mu_{\omega_t}$ -semistable.

As a consequence of this, changing the polarization inside a chamber does not affect the moduli space. This is well-known for v-generic ample line bundles, and requires the same proof. We let  $M^{\mu}_{\tau}(S,\omega)$  be the moduli space of  $\mu_{\omega}$ -stable sheaves whose topological type is  $\tau$ . If S is a K3 surface, then  $M_{\tau_v}^{\mu}(S,\omega) = M_v^{\mu}(S,\omega)$ 

**Proposition 3.2.** Let S be a smooth projective surface and  $\tau$  $(r, \xi, c_2)$  such that  $r \geq 2$  and  $\xi \in NS(S)$ . Let  $\mathcal{C}$  be a  $\tau$ -chamber in the Kähler cone of S, and  $\omega, \omega' \in \mathcal{C}$ . Then  $M^{\mu}_{\tau}(S, \omega) = M^{\mu}_{\tau}(S, \omega')$ .

*Proof.* We show that if  $\mathscr{F}$  is a  $\mu_{\omega}$ -stable sheaf of topological type  $\tau$ , then it is  $\mu_{\omega'}$ -stable as well. Indeed, suppose that  $\mathscr{F}$  is not  $\mu_{\omega'}$ -stable. By Lemma 3.1 this implies that there is  $\omega_t \in [\omega, \omega']$  such that  $\mathscr{F}$  is properly  $\mu_{\omega_t}$ —semistable. Hence there is  $\mathscr{E} \subseteq \mathscr{F}$  of rank 0 < s < r and first Chern class  $\zeta$ , such that  $\mu_{\omega_t}(\mathscr{E}) = \mu_{\omega_t}(\mathscr{F})$ .

Let  $D := r\zeta - s\xi$ : hence  $D \cdot \omega_t = 0$ , and by Lemma 2.5 we have  $D \in W_{\tau} \cup \{0\}$ . Notice that as  $\mathscr{F}$  is  $\mu_{\omega}$ -stable, we have  $D \cdot \omega < 0$ , so that  $D \in W_{\tau}$ . It follows that  $\omega_t \notin \mathcal{C}$  which is not possible as  $\mathcal{C}$  is convex. In conclusion,  $\mathscr{F}$  is  $\mu_{\omega'}$ -stable.

3.2. Conclusion for projective K3 surfaces. We first introduce some notations: if S is a projective surface, we let  $NS_{\mathbb{R}}(S)$  be the real Néron-Severi space of S, which is a linear subspace of  $H^{1,1}(S)$ . Recall that on  $H^{1,1}(S)$  we have a non-degenerate intersection product whose restriction to  $NS_{\mathbb{R}}(S)$  remains non-degenerate. Let  $T_{\mathbb{R}}(S)$  be the

orthogonal of  $NS_{\mathbb{R}}(S)$  in  $H^{1,1}(S)$ , so that we have  $H^{1,1}(S) = NS_{\mathbb{R}}(S) \oplus T_{\mathbb{R}}(S)$ .

Finally, for every  $\alpha \in H^{1,1}(S)$  we let  $p_{NS}: H^{1,1}(S) \longrightarrow NS_{\mathbb{R}}(S)$  and  $p_T: H^{1,1}(S) \longrightarrow T_{\mathbb{R}}(S)$  be the two projections. Moreover, for every  $\alpha \in H^{1,1}(S)$  we let  $\alpha_{NS} := p_{NS}(\alpha)$  and  $\alpha_T := p_T(\alpha)$ .

The first result we show is the following:

**Lemma 3.3.** Let S be a projective surface and  $\omega$  a Kähler class on S.

- (1) The class  $\omega_{NS}$  is an ample class on S.
- (2) For every  $\xi \in NS_{\mathbb{R}}(S)$  we have  $\xi \cdot \omega = \xi \cdot \omega_{NS}$ .

*Proof.* Recall that  $\omega = \omega_{NS} + \omega_T$ : it follows that for every non-zero effective curve class C we have

$$\omega_{NS} \cdot C = \omega \cdot C - \omega_T \cdot C = \omega \cdot C > 0,$$

since  $\omega_T$  is orthogonal to  $NS_{\mathbb{R}}(S)$  (where C lies), and  $\omega$  is a Kähler class. This implies that  $\omega_{NS}$  is a nef class on S.

In particular, this means that  $\omega_{NS}$  is a class in the closure of the ample cone of S. Now, recall that the projection  $p_{NS}$  is an open map; moreover, the previous part of the proof shows that the image of the Kähler cone of S under  $p_{NS}$  is contained in the nef cone of S.

As the Kähler cone is open in  $H^{1,1}(S)$  and the interior of the nef cone is the ample cone, it follows that the image of the Kähler cone by projection is contained in the ample cone.

The last point of the statement is simply the fact that  $\omega_T$  is orthogonal to  $NS_{\mathbb{R}}(S)$ .

Using the previous Lemma, we can finally prove the following, which shows part (1) of Theorem 1.1.

**Theorem 3.4.** Let S be a projective K3 surface and  $v = (r, \xi, a) \in H^{2*}(S, \mathbb{Z})$  such that  $r \geq 2$ ,  $\xi \in NS(S)$  and  $(r, \xi) = 1$ . If  $\omega$  is v-generic and  $M_v^{\mu}(S, \omega) \neq \emptyset$ , then  $M_v^{\mu}(S, \omega)$  is a projective irreducible hyperkähler manifold deformation equivalent to a Hilbert scheme of points on S.

*Proof.* The class  $\omega_{NS}$  is ample by Lemma 3.3, and  $\omega_{NS} \cdot \xi = \omega \cdot \xi$  for every  $\xi \in NS_{\mathbb{R}}(S)$ . It follows that for every  $\mathscr{F} \in Coh(S)$  we have  $\mu_{\omega}(\mathscr{F}) = \mu_{\omega_{NS}}(\mathscr{F})$ . In particular, a coherent sheaf is  $\mu_{\omega}$ -stable if and only if it is  $\mu_{\omega_{NS}}$ -stable, so that  $M_v^{\mu}(S, \omega) = M_v^{\mu}(S, \omega_{NS})$ .

Moreover, if  $D \in W_v$ , then  $\omega_{NS} \cdot D = \omega \cdot D$ : as  $\omega$  is v-generic, it follows that  $\omega_{NS}$  is v-generic. Let  $\mathcal{C}$  be the v-chamber of the ample cone where  $\omega_{NS}$  lies. As  $\mathcal{C}$  is open in Amp(S), there is  $\epsilon > 0$  such that the ball  $B_{\epsilon}(\omega_{NS}) \subseteq Amp(S)$  of ray  $\epsilon$  and centred at  $\omega_{NS}$  is contained in  $\mathcal{C}$ . Let  $\omega' \in B_{\epsilon}(\omega_{NS}) \cap H^2(S, \mathbb{Q})$ : by Proposition 3.2 we have  $M_v^{\mu}(S, \omega_{NS}) = M_v^{\mu}(S, \omega')$ .

As  $\omega' \in H^2(S, \mathbb{Q}) \cap H^{1,1}(S)$ , there are  $p \in \mathbb{N}$  and  $H \in Pic(S)$  such that  $p\omega' = c_1(H)$ . As  $\omega' \in \mathcal{C}$  and  $\mathcal{C}$  is a cone, we have  $c_1(H) \in \mathcal{C}$ : hence H is a v-generic ample line bundle, and  $M_v^{\mu}(S, \omega') = M_v^{\mu}(S, H)$ . By [30] and [42]  $M_v^{\mu}(S, H)$  is an irreducible hyperkähler manifold deformation equivalent to a Hilbert scheme of points, and we are done.  $\square$ 

**Remark 3.5.** A useful corollary of Lemma 3.3 is that if C is a v-chamber in the Kähler cone of S, then C intersects the ample cone (and the intersection is clearly a v-chamber in the ample cone of S).

Indeed, consider the segment  $[\omega, \omega_{NS}]$ : as the projection  $p_{NS}$  is a linear map, we have that  $[\omega, \omega_{NS}] \cap NS_{\mathbb{R}}(S) = \{\omega_{NS}\}$ , and that  $p_{NS}([\omega, \omega_{NS}]) = \{\omega_{NS}\}$ .

We show that  $\omega_{NS} \in \mathcal{C}$  (showing that  $\mathcal{C}$  intersects the ample cone by Lemma 3.3). Indeed, suppose that  $\omega_{NS}$  does not lie in  $\mathcal{C}$ : it follows that there is  $\omega' \in [\omega, \omega_{NS}]$  lying on a v-wall. This means that there is  $D \in W_v$  such that  $\omega' \cdot D = 0$ . But as  $p_{NS}(\omega') = p_{NS}(\omega) = \omega_{NS}$ , it follows that  $\omega \cdot D = 0$ , which is not possible.

#### 4. Moduli spaces of stable twisted sheaves

In this section we recall the notion of twisted sheaf on a complex manifold, and we introduce the notion of stability for coherent twisted sheaves. We will then construct (relative) moduli spaces of stable twisted sheaves on a K3 surface (not necessarily projective): they will be used to show that the moduli spaces  $M_v^{\mu}(S,\omega)$  of  $\mu_{\omega}$ —stable sheaves with Mukai vector  $v=(r,\xi,a)$  such that r and  $\xi$  are prime to each other are compact, connected, simply connected and deformation equivalent to a Hilbert scheme of points on a projective K3 surface (whenever the polarization  $\omega$  is v—generic).

4.1. Twisted sheaves and stability. We recall some basic facts about twisted sheaves on a complex manifold X (we refer the interested reader to [6] or [25] for more details).

There are several definitions of twisted sheaves, giving equivalent categories. We use three of them: the first one is due to Căldăraru [6], and presents twisted sheaves as a twisted gluing of local coherent sheaves on X; the second one (to be found again in [6]) presents twisted sheaves as modules over an Azumaya algebra on X; the last one, due to Yoshioka [43], presents twisted sheaves as a full subcategory of the category of coherent sheaves on some projective bundle over X.

We begin by recalling these definitions. As our aim are moduli spaces of stable twisted sheaves, we need to introduce several notions: first, we recall the Chern character and the slope of a twisted sheaf (for projective manifolds, this was done in [18] and [43]); we then introduce  $\mu_{\omega}$ -stability for twisted sheaves (with respect to a Kähler form  $\omega$ ).

- 4.1.1. Twisted sheaves following Căldăraru. Let  $\mathscr{U} = \{U_i\}_{i \in I}$  be an open covering of X, and let  $U_{ij} := U_i \cap U_j$  and  $U_{ijk} := U_i \cap U_j \cap U_k$ . Choose a 2-cocyle  $\{\alpha_{ijk}\}$ , where  $\alpha_{ijk} \in \mathscr{O}_X^*(U_{ijk})$ , defining a class  $\alpha \in H^2(X, \mathscr{O}_X^*)$ . A  $\{\alpha_{ijk}\}$ -twisted coherent sheaf is a collection  $\mathscr{F} =$  $\{\mathscr{F}_i,\phi_{ij}\}$ , where  $\mathscr{F}_i\in Coh(U_i)$  for every  $i\in I$ , and for every  $i,j\in I$  $\phi_{ij}: \mathscr{F}_{j|U_{ij}} \longrightarrow \mathscr{F}_{i|U_{ij}}$  is an isomorphism in  $Coh(U_{ij})$  such that

  - (1)  $\phi_{ii} = id_{\mathscr{F}_i}$  for every  $i \in I$ ; (2)  $\phi_{ij} = \phi_{ji}^{-1}$  for every  $i, j \in I$ ;
  - (3)  $\phi_{ij} \circ \phi_{jk} \circ \phi_{ki} = \alpha_{ijk} \cdot id$  for every  $i, j, k \in I$ .

By a morphism of  $\{\alpha_{ijk}\}$ -twisted sheaves

$$f: \mathscr{F} = \{\mathscr{F}_i, \phi_{ij}\} \longrightarrow \mathscr{G} = \{\mathscr{G}_i, \psi_{ij}\}$$

we mean a collection  $f = \{f_i\}$  of morphisms  $f_i : \mathscr{F}_i \longrightarrow \mathscr{G}_i$  of  $\mathcal{O}_{U_i}$ -modules such that  $\psi_{ij} \circ f_j = f_i \circ \phi_{ij}$  for every  $i, j \in I$ .

The  $\{\alpha_{ijk}\}$ -twisted coherent sheaves form an abelian category  $Coh(X, \{\alpha_{ijk}\})$ . If  $\{\alpha_{ijk}\}$  and  $\{\alpha'_{ijk}\}$  are two representatives of the same class  $\alpha \in H^2(X, \mathcal{O}_X^*)$ , then there is an equivalence between  $Coh(X, \{\alpha_{ijk}\})$  and  $Coh(X, \{\alpha'_{ijk}\})$ , so that we can speak of the category  $Coh(X, \alpha)$  of coherent  $\alpha$ -twisted sheaves.

If  $\mathscr{F} \in Coh(X,\alpha)$  and  $\mathscr{G} \in Coh(X,\beta)$ , we can define in a natural way  $\mathscr{F} \otimes \mathscr{G}$  and  $\mathscr{H}om(\mathscr{F},\mathscr{G})$ : the first one is a coherent  $\alpha\beta$ -twisted sheaf, while the second is a coherent  $\alpha^{-1}\beta$ -twisted sheaf.

We now recall an important definition: a sheaf  $\mathcal{A}$  of  $\mathcal{O}_X$ -modules is said to be an Azumaya algebra if it is a sheaf of  $\mathcal{O}_X$ -algebras whose generic fibre is a central simple algebra. Equivalence classes of Azumaya algebras form a group Br(X), the Brauer group of X, which has an injection into  $H^2(X, \mathcal{O}_X^*)$ . One of the main properties we will use in the following is (see Theorem 1.3.5 of [6]):

**Proposition 4.1.** Let X be a complex manifold and  $\alpha \in Br(X)$ . Then there exist a locally free  $\alpha$ -twisted sheaf on X.

For the rest of this section, we suppose  $\alpha \in Br(X)$  and define the twisted Chern character and twisted Mukai vector for  $\alpha$ -twisted sheaves. More precisely, let  $\mathscr{F}$  be an  $\alpha$ -twisted coherent sheaf on X and E a locally free  $\alpha$ -twisted coherent sheaf. The Chern character of  $\mathscr{F}$  with respect to E is

$$ch_E(\mathscr{F}) := \frac{ch(\mathscr{F} \otimes E^{\vee})}{\sqrt{ch(E \otimes E^{\vee})}}.$$

The Mukai vector of  $\mathscr{F}$  with respect to E is

$$v_E(\mathscr{F}) := ch_E(\mathscr{F}) \cdot \sqrt{td(X)}.$$

The slope of a torsion-free  $\alpha$ -twisted sheaf  $\mathscr{F}$  with respect to E and to a Kähler class  $\omega$  is

$$\mu_{E,\omega}(\mathscr{F}) := \frac{c_{E,1}(\mathscr{F}) \cdot \omega}{rk(\mathscr{F})},$$

where  $c_{E,1}(\mathscr{F})$  is the component of  $ch_E(\mathscr{F})$  lying in  $H^2(S,\mathbb{Q})$ .

We collect some explicit formulas when X = S is a K3 surface. Let  $r := rk(\mathscr{F}), \ s := rk(E), \ \xi := c_1(\mathscr{F} \otimes E^{\vee}), \ a := ch_2(\mathscr{F} \otimes E^{\vee})$  and  $b := ch_2(E \otimes E^{\vee})$ . Then

$$ch_E(\mathscr{F}) = (r, \xi/s, (2as - rb)/2s^2),$$
  
 $v_E(\mathscr{F}) = (r, \xi/s, r + (2as - rb)/2s^2)$ 

so that

(1) 
$$\mu_{E,\omega}(\mathscr{F}) = \frac{\xi \cdot \omega}{rs} = \frac{c_1(\mathscr{F} \otimes E^{\vee}) \cdot \omega}{rk(\mathscr{F})rk(E)} = \mu_{\omega}(\mathscr{F} \otimes E^{\vee})$$

and

(2) 
$$v_E^2(\mathscr{F}) = \frac{\xi^2}{s^2} - \frac{2ra}{s} + \frac{r^2b}{s^2} - 2r^2.$$

If  $\alpha = 0$ , then one easily sees that  $\mu_{E,\omega}(\mathscr{F}) = \mu_{\omega}(\mathscr{F}) - \mu_{\omega}(E)$  and that

(3) 
$$v_E^2(\mathscr{F}) = v^2(\mathscr{F}).$$

If  $\mathscr{F}$  is a torsion free  $\alpha$ -twisted sheaf on S, we let

$$ch_{\alpha}(\mathscr{F}):=ch_{\mathscr{F}^{\vee\vee}}(\mathscr{F}), \qquad v_{\alpha}(\mathscr{F}):=v_{\mathscr{F}^{\vee\vee}}(\mathscr{F}),$$

called twisted Chern character and twisted Mukai vector of  $\mathscr{F}$ . The twisted slope of  $\mathscr{F}$  with respect to  $\omega$  is

$$\mu_{\alpha,\omega}(\mathscr{F}) := \frac{c_{\alpha,1}(\mathscr{F}) \cdot \omega}{rk(\mathscr{F})},$$

where  $c_{\alpha,1}(\mathscr{F})$  is the component of  $ch_{\alpha}(\mathscr{F})$  in  $H^2(S,\mathbb{Q})$ .

Using twisted slopes, we introduce the notion of stability for twisted sheaves. Fix  $\alpha \in Br(X)$  and E an  $\alpha$ -twisted locally free sheaf.

**Definition 4.2.** We say that a torsion-free  $\mathscr{F} \in Coh(X,\alpha)$  is  $\mu_{E,\omega}$ -stable if for every  $\alpha$ -twisted coherent subsheaf  $\mathscr{E} \subseteq \mathscr{F}$  such that  $0 < rk(\mathscr{E}) < rk(\mathscr{F})$  we have  $\mu_{E,\omega}(\mathscr{E}) < \mu_{E,\omega}(\mathscr{F})$ . If  $\mu_{E,\omega}(\mathscr{E}) \le \mu_{E,\omega}(\mathscr{F})$  for every such subsheaf, we say that  $\mathscr{F}$  is  $\mu_{E,\omega}$ -semistable. A  $\mu_{\mathscr{F}^{\vee\vee},\omega}$ -(semi)stable sheaf will be called  $\mu_{\alpha,\omega}$ -(semi)stable.

To conclude this section, we show that the  $\mu_{E,\omega}$ -stability does not depend on E.

**Lemma 4.3.** Let  $\alpha \in Br(S)$ ,  $\mathscr{F} \in Coh(S,\alpha)$  and  $\omega \in \mathscr{K}_S$ . If  $E', E \in Coh(S,\alpha)$  are locally free, then  $\mathscr{F}$  is  $\mu_{E,\omega}$ -stable if and only if it is  $\mu_{E',\omega}$ -stable. In particular,  $\mathscr{F}$  is  $\mu_{E,\omega}$ -stable if and only if it is  $\mu_{\alpha,\omega}$ -stable. If  $\alpha = 0$ , the sheaf  $\mathscr{F}$  is  $\mu_{0,\omega}$ -stable if and only if it is  $\mu_{\omega}$ -stable.

*Proof.* Let  $\mathscr{F} \in Coh(S, \alpha)$ ,  $\mathscr{G}$  an  $\alpha$ -twisted coherent subsheaf of  $\mathscr{F}$ , and H a locally free  $\alpha$ -twisted coherent sheaf. Then

$$rk(H)rk(\mathscr{F})c_1(\mathscr{G}\otimes H^{\vee})-rk(H)rk(\mathscr{G})c_1(\mathscr{F}\otimes H^{\vee})=$$

$$(4) = c_1(\mathscr{G} \otimes \mathscr{F}^{\vee} \otimes H \otimes H^{\vee}) = rk^2(H)c_1(\mathscr{G} \otimes \mathscr{F}^{\vee}).$$

Suppose now that  $\mathscr{F}$  is  $\mu_{E,\omega}$ -stable but not  $\mu_{E',\omega}$ -stable. Hence there is an  $\alpha$ -twisted coherent subsheaf  $\mathscr{G}$  of  $\mathscr{F}$  of rank  $0 < s < rk(\mathscr{F})$  such that  $\mu_{E',\omega}(\mathscr{G}) \ge \mu_{E',\omega}(\mathscr{F})$ . By  $\mu_{E,\omega}$ -stability of  $\mathscr{F}$  we even have  $\mu_{E,\omega}(\mathscr{G}) < \mu_{E,\omega}(\mathscr{F})$ . Writing these two inequalities explicitly we have

(5) 
$$\omega \cdot (rk(E')rc_1(\mathscr{G} \otimes (E')^{\vee}) - rk(E')sc_1(\mathscr{F} \otimes (E')^{\vee})) \ge 0,$$

(6) 
$$\omega \cdot (rk(E)rc_1(\mathscr{G} \otimes E^{\vee}) - rk(E)sc_1(\mathscr{F} \otimes E^{\vee})) < 0.$$

Using equation (4) for H = E', equation (5) becomes  $\omega \cdot c_1(\mathscr{G} \otimes \mathscr{F}^{\vee}) \geq 0$ . Using equation (4) for H = E, equation (6) becomes  $\omega \cdot c_1(\mathscr{G} \otimes \mathscr{F}^{\vee}) < 0$ , getting a contradiction.

4.1.2. Twisted sheaves as  $\mathcal{A}$ -modules. Let again X be a complex manifold and  $\mathcal{A}$  an Azumaya algebra on X. We let  $Coh(X, \mathcal{A})$  be the abelian category of coherent sheaves on X having the structure of  $\mathcal{A}$ -module. The following is Proposition 1.3.6 of [6]:

**Proposition 4.4.** Let X be a complex manifold, A an Azumaya algebra on X and  $\alpha$  its class in Br(X). If E is a locally free  $\alpha$ -twisted coherent sheaf such that  $\mathcal{E}nd(E) \simeq \mathcal{A}$ , we have an equivalence

$$Coh(X, \alpha) \longrightarrow Coh(X, \mathcal{A}), \quad \mathscr{F} \mapsto \mathscr{F} \otimes E^{\vee}.$$

We now define Chern characters, Mukai vectors and slopes for the objects of  $Coh(X, \mathcal{A})$ , which allow us to define a notion of stability. For  $\mathscr{F} \in Coh(X, \mathcal{A})$  we define

$$ch_{\mathcal{A}}(\mathscr{F}) := \frac{ch(\mathscr{F})}{\sqrt{ch(\mathcal{A})}}, \quad v_{\mathcal{A}}(\mathscr{F}) := ch_{\mathcal{A}}(\mathscr{F}) \cdot \sqrt{td(X)},$$

and if  $\omega$  is a Kähler class and  $\mathscr{F}$  is torsion-free, we let

$$\mu_{\mathcal{A},\omega}(\mathscr{F}) := \frac{c_{\mathcal{A},1}(\mathscr{F}) \cdot \omega}{rk(\mathscr{F})},$$

where  $c_{\mathcal{A},1}(\mathscr{F})$  is the component of  $ch_{\mathcal{A}}(\mathscr{F})$  in  $H^2(S,\mathbb{Q})$ . We now introduce the notion of stability for  $\mathcal{A}$ -modules:

**Definition 4.5.** A torsion-free  $\mathscr{F} \in Coh(X, \mathcal{A})$  is  $\mu_{\mathcal{A},\omega}$ -stable if for every  $\mathscr{E} \subseteq \mathscr{F}$  in  $Coh(X, \mathcal{A})$  such that  $0 < rk(\mathscr{E}) < rk(\mathscr{F})$ , we have  $\mu_{\mathcal{A},\omega}(\mathscr{E}) < \mu_{\mathcal{A},\omega}(\mathscr{F})$ . If  $\mu_{\mathcal{A},\omega}(\mathscr{E}) \leq \mu_{\mathcal{A},\omega}(\mathscr{F})$  for every such subobject, we say that  $\mathscr{F}$  is  $\mu_{\mathcal{A},\omega}$ -semistable.

We notice that if  $\mathscr{G} \in Coh(X, \alpha)$  and E is a locally free  $\alpha$ -twisted sheaf such that  $\mathscr{E}nd(E) \simeq \mathcal{A}$ , then  $ch_E(\mathscr{G}) = ch_{\mathcal{A}}(\mathscr{G} \otimes E^{\vee})$ . It follows that

$$v_E(\mathscr{G}) = v_{\mathcal{A}}(\mathscr{G} \otimes E^{\vee}), \quad \mu_{E,\omega}(\mathscr{G}) = \mu_{\mathcal{A},\omega}(\mathscr{G} \otimes E^{\vee}),$$

so that  $\mathscr{F} \in Coh(X,\alpha)$  is  $\mu_{E,\omega}$ -stable if and only if  $\mathscr{F} \otimes E^{\vee}$  is  $\mu_{A,\omega}$ -stable.

Remark 4.6. We notice that  $\Lambda := (\mathcal{O}_X, \mathcal{A})$  is a sheaf of rings of differential operators following the definition of [32], and  $Coh(X, \mathcal{A})$  is the category of  $\Lambda$ -modules (always in the sense of [32]). Moreover,  $\mu_{\mathcal{A},\omega}$ -stable  $\mathcal{A}$ -modules are exactly  $\mu$ -stable  $\Lambda$ -modules (always in the sense of [32]). Even if the definitions of [32] are given only for projective manifolds, they can immediately be extended to compact complex manifolds.

4.1.3. Twisted sheaves following Yoshioka. In [43] Yoshioka introduces twisted sheaves as a full subcategory of the category of coherent sheaves on a projective bundle.

More precisely, let X be a complex manifold,  $\alpha \in Br(X)$  and E a locally free  $\alpha$ -twisted sheaf. On an open cover  $\mathscr{U} = \{U_i\}_{i \in I}$  we represent E by  $\{E_i, \phi_{ij}\}_{i,j \in I}$ . Let  $\mathbb{P}_i := \mathbb{P}(E_i)$ , together with the map  $\pi_i : \mathbb{P}_i \longrightarrow U_i$ . The twisted gluing data  $\phi_{ij}$  turn to a gluing data  $\varphi_{ij}$  of the  $\mathbb{P}_i$  and of the  $\pi_i$ , getting a projective bundle  $\pi : \mathbb{P} \longrightarrow X$  (whose class in Br(X) is  $\alpha$ ).

As shown in Lemma 1.1 of [43], we have  $Ext^1(T_{\mathbb{P}/X}, \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}}) = \mathbb{C}$ , hence, up to scalars, there is a unique non-trivial extension

$$0 \longrightarrow \mathscr{O}_{\mathbb{P}} \longrightarrow G \longrightarrow T_{\mathbb{P}/X} \longrightarrow 0.$$

The vector bundle G can be described in another way. Fix a tautological line bundle  $\mathcal{O}(\lambda_i)$  over  $\mathbb{P}_i$ , so that the twisted gluing data  $\phi_{ij}$  give isomorphisms  $\psi_{ij}: \mathcal{O}(\lambda_i) \longrightarrow \mathcal{O}(\lambda_j)$ , and  $L := \{\mathcal{O}(\lambda_i), \psi_{ij}\}$  is an  $\pi^*(\alpha^{-1})$ -twisted line bundle on  $\mathbb{P}$ . Then the vector bundles  $\pi_i^* E_i(\lambda_i)$  glue together to give a locally free sheaf which is isomorphic to G.

**Definition 4.7.** A coherent sheaf  $\mathscr{F}$  on  $\mathbb{P}$  is called  $\mathbb{P}$ -sheaf if the canonical morphism  $\pi^*\pi_*(G^{\vee}\otimes\mathscr{F})\longrightarrow G^{\vee}\otimes\mathscr{F}$  is an isomorphism. We let  $Coh(\mathbb{P},X)$  be the full subcategory of  $Coh(\mathbb{P})$  given by  $\mathbb{P}$ -sheaves.

Lemma 1.5 of [43] shows that  $\mathscr{F} \in Coh(\mathbb{P}, X)$  if and only if  $\mathscr{F}_{|\mathbb{P}_i} \simeq \pi^* \mathscr{E}_{|U_i} \otimes \mathscr{O}(\lambda_i)$  for some  $\mathscr{E} \in Coh(U_i)$ . Using this, one shows:

**Proposition 4.8.** Let X be a complex manifold and  $\pi : \mathbb{P} \longrightarrow X$  a projective bundle whose class in Br(X) is  $\alpha$ . Then there is an equivalence of categories

$$P: Coh(\mathbb{P}, X) \longrightarrow Coh(X, \alpha), \quad P(\mathscr{F}) := \pi_*(\mathscr{F} \otimes L^{\vee}).$$

Following Yoshioka, we have a definition of Chern character, Mukai vector and slope of a  $\mathbb{P}$ -sheaf  $\mathscr{F}$ . More precisely, we have

$$ch_{\mathbb{P}}(\mathscr{F}) := \frac{ch(\pi_*(G^{\vee} \otimes \mathscr{F}))}{\sqrt{ch(\pi_*(G^{\vee} \otimes G))}},$$

so that

$$v_{\mathbb{P}}(\mathscr{F}) = ch_{\mathbb{P}}(\mathscr{F}) \cdot \sqrt{td(S)}, \quad \mu_{\mathbb{P},\omega}(\mathscr{F}) := \frac{c_{\mathbb{P},1}(\mathscr{F}) \cdot \omega}{rk(\mathscr{F})},$$

where  $c_{\mathbb{P},1}(\mathscr{F})$  is the component of  $ch_{\mathbb{P}}(\mathscr{F})$  in  $H^2(S,\mathbb{Q})$ . We now introduce the notion of stability for  $\mathbb{P}$ -sheaves.

**Definition 4.9.** We say that a torsion-free  $\mathscr{F} \in Coh(\mathbb{P}, X)$  is  $\mu_{\mathbb{P},\omega}$ -stable if for every subobject  $\mathscr{E}$  of  $\mathscr{F}$  in  $Coh(\mathbb{P}, X)$  such that  $0 < rk(\mathscr{E}) < rk(\mathscr{F})$ , we have  $\mu_{\mathbb{P},\omega}(\mathscr{E}) < \mu_{\mathbb{P},\omega}(\mathscr{F})$ . If  $\mu_{\mathbb{P},\omega}(\mathscr{E}) \leq \mu_{\mathbb{P},\omega}(\mathscr{F})$  for every such subobject, we say that  $\mathscr{F}$  is  $\mu_{\mathbb{P},\omega}$ -semistable.

If  $\mathbb{P} = \mathbb{P}(E)$  for some locally free  $\alpha$ -twisted sheaf E, the equivalence P gives

$$ch_{\mathbb{P}}(\mathscr{F}) = ch_{E}(P(\mathscr{F})), \quad v_{\mathbb{P}}(\mathscr{F}) = v_{E}(P(\mathscr{F})),$$
  
$$\mu_{\mathbb{P},\omega}(\mathscr{F}) = \mu_{E,\omega}(P(\mathscr{F})).$$

It follows that  $\mathscr{F} \in Coh(\mathbb{P}, X)$  is  $\mu_{\mathbb{P},\omega}$ -stable if and only if  $P(\mathscr{F})$  is  $\mu_{E,\omega}$ -stable.

If  $\mathscr{F}$  is a  $\mu_{\mathbb{P},\omega}$ -stable  $\mathbb{P}$ -sheaf, as  $Coh(\mathbb{P},S)$  is a full subcategory of  $Coh(\mathbb{P})$  and as the functor P is an equivalence, we have that

$$Ext^1_{Coh(\mathbb{P},S)}(\mathscr{F},\mathscr{F}) \simeq Ext^1_{Coh(S,\alpha)}(P(\mathscr{F}),P(\mathscr{F})),$$

and

$$Ext^2_{Coh(\mathbb{P},S)}(\mathscr{F},\mathscr{F}) \simeq Ext^2_{Coh(S,\alpha)}(P(\mathscr{F}),P(\mathscr{F})).$$

4.1.4. Chern classes following Huybrechts and Stellari. If we consider twisted sheaves following Căldăraru, there is another possible definition of their Chern classes and character, introduced by Huybrechts and Stellari in [17], that we recall here.

Consider a complex manifold X and  $\alpha \in H^2(X, \mathcal{O}_X^*)$ , and fix a Čech 2-cocycle  $\{\alpha_{ijk}\}$  representing  $\alpha$  on an open covering  $\{U_i\}_{i\in I}$  of X. Moreover, choose a Čech 2-cocycle  $\{B_{ijk}\}$ , where  $B_{ijk} \in \Gamma(U_{ijk}, \mathbb{Q})$ , such that  $\alpha_{ijk} = \exp(B_{ijk})$  (viewed as local sections of  $\mathbb{R}/\mathbb{Z} = U(1) \subseteq \mathcal{O}_X^*$ ).

As the sheaf  $C_X^{\infty}$  of  $C^{\infty}$ -functions on X is acyclic, up to supposing the covering  $\{U_i\}_{i\in I}$  is sufficiently fine, there are  $a_{ij} \in \Gamma(U_{ij}, C^{\infty})$  such that

$$B_{ijk} = -a_{ij} + a_{ik} - a_{jk}.$$

Now, let us consider an  $\alpha$ -twisted sheaf given by  $\mathscr{F} = \{\mathscr{F}_i, \phi_{ij}\}$  and let

$$\psi_{ij} := \phi_{ij} \cdot \exp(a_{ij}),$$

which is clearly an isomorphism between the restrictions of  $\mathscr{F}_i$  and  $\mathscr{F}_j$  to  $U_{ij}$ . It is moreover easy to show that

$$\psi_{ij} \circ \psi_{jk} \circ \psi_{ki} = id,$$

hence the sheaf  $\mathscr{F}_B = \{\mathscr{F}_i, \psi_{ij}\}_{i,j\in I}$  is an untwisted sheaf. We then let

$$ch^B(\mathscr{F}) := ch(\mathscr{F}_B).$$

The definition given in this way depends only on B.

The relation between  $ch^B$  and the previous Chern characters is explained in [18], and goes as follows, supposing that  $\alpha \in Br(X)$ . Let E be a locally free  $\alpha$ -twisted sheaf and

$$B_E := \frac{c_1^B(E)}{rk(E)},$$

where  $c_1^B(E)$  is the degree two part of  $ch^B(E)$ . Then we have

$$ch^B(\mathscr{F}) = ch_E(\mathscr{F}) \cdot \exp(B_E).$$

4.2. **Genericity for polarizations.** We now extend the notion of genericity for polarization to the twisted case. As we did in section 2.2, we first introduce a notion of discriminant for twisted sheaves, which depends on the choice of a locally free  $E \in Coh(S, \alpha)$ .

4.2.1. Discriminant of a twisted sheaf. If  $\mathscr{F}$  is an  $\alpha$ -twisted coherent sheaf, we call discriminant of  $\mathscr{F}$  with respect to E the number

$$\Delta_E(\mathscr{F}) := \frac{1}{2rk^2(\mathscr{F})}v_E^2(\mathscr{F}) + 1.$$

If  $\alpha = 0$ , this is just  $\Delta(\mathscr{F})$  by equation (3). More generally, the discriminant does not depend on E, as shown in the following:

**Lemma 4.10.** Let  $\alpha \in Br(S)$  and  $\mathscr{F} \in Coh(S, \alpha)$ . If  $E_1, E_2 \in Coh(S, \alpha)$  are locally free, then  $\Delta_{E_1}(\mathscr{F}) = \Delta_{E_2}(\mathscr{F})$ .

*Proof.* Let  $E \in Coh(S, \alpha)$  be locally free of rank s, and pose  $r := rk(\mathscr{F}), \xi := c_1(\mathscr{F} \otimes E^{\vee}), a := ch_2(\mathscr{F} \otimes E^{\vee})$  and  $b := ch_2(E \otimes E^{\vee})$ . By equation (2) we have

$$\Delta_E(\mathscr{F}) = \frac{1}{2r^2} \left( \frac{\xi^2}{s^2} - \frac{2ra}{s} + \frac{r^2b}{s^2} - 2r^2 \right) + 1.$$

An easy computation shows that

$$\frac{\xi^2}{s} - \frac{2ra}{s} + \frac{r^2b}{s^2} = -\frac{ch_2(\mathscr{F} \otimes \mathscr{F}^{\vee} \otimes E \otimes E^{\vee})}{s^2} + \frac{r^2ch_2(E \otimes E^{\vee})}{2s^2} = \\ = -ch_2(\mathscr{F} \otimes \mathscr{F}^{\vee}),$$

so that

(7) 
$$\Delta_E(\mathscr{F}) = \frac{1}{2r^2} (-ch_2(\mathscr{F} \otimes \mathscr{F}^{\vee}) - 2r^2) + 1,$$

which does not depend on E, implying the statement.

For  $v \in H^{2*}(S, \mathbb{Q})$  and  $\alpha \in Br(S)$ , we let

$$\Delta_{\alpha}(v) := \Delta_{\mathscr{F}^{\vee\vee}}(\mathscr{F}),$$

where  $\mathscr{F} \in Coh(S, \alpha)$  is torsion free and  $v_{\alpha}(\mathscr{F}) = v$ . By Lemma 4.10 this is well defined and if  $\alpha = 0$ , then  $\Delta_0(v) = \Delta(v)$ . We now prove a generalization to twisted sheaves of the Bogomolov inequality:

**Proposition 4.11.** Let  $\alpha \in Br(S)$ ,  $\mathscr{F} \in Coh(S, \alpha)$  and  $\omega$  a Kähler class on S. If  $\mathscr{F}$  is  $\mu_{\alpha,\omega}$ -semistable, then  $\Delta_{\alpha}(\mathscr{F}) \geq 0$ .

*Proof.* It is easy to see that  $\mathscr{F}$  is  $\mu_{\alpha,\omega}$ -semistable if and only if  $\mathscr{F}^{\vee}$  is  $\mu_{\alpha^{-1},\omega}$ -semistable. In particular, this implies that  $\mathscr{F}$  is  $\mu_{\alpha,\omega}$ -semistable if and only if  $\mathscr{F}^{\vee\vee}$  is  $\mu_{\alpha,\omega}$ -semistable. Now, notice that  $\mathscr{F}^{\vee\vee}\otimes\mathscr{F}^{\vee}=(\mathscr{F}\otimes\mathscr{F}^{\vee})^{\vee\vee}$ , hence if l is the length

Now, notice that  $\mathscr{F}^{\vee\vee} \otimes \mathscr{F}^{\vee} = (\mathscr{F} \otimes \mathscr{F}^{\vee})^{\vee\vee}$ , hence if l is the length of the singular locus of  $\mathscr{F} \otimes \mathscr{F}^{\vee}$ , it follows that

$$ch_2(\mathscr{F}^{\vee\vee}\otimes\mathscr{F}^{\vee})=ch_2(\mathscr{F}\otimes\mathscr{F}^{\vee})+l.$$

By equation (2), it then follows that

$$v_{\alpha}^{2}(\mathscr{F}^{\vee\vee}) = v_{\alpha}^{2}(\mathscr{F}) - 2l \leq v_{\alpha}^{2}(\mathscr{F}).$$

As  $rk(\mathscr{F}) = rk(\mathscr{F}^{\vee\vee})$  it follows that  $\Delta_{\alpha}(\mathscr{F}) \geq \Delta_{\alpha}(\mathscr{F}^{\vee\vee})$ , hence we just need to show the statement for  $\mathscr{F}^{\vee\vee}$ .

Let now  $F := \mathscr{F}^{\vee\vee}$ , which is locally free and  $\mu_{\alpha,\omega}$ -semistable. By the Kobayashi-Hitchin correspondence for twisted sheaves as proved by Wang in [41], the sheaf  $\mathscr{E}nd(F) = F \otimes F^{\vee}$  is  $\mu_{\omega}$ -polystable, so that  $\Delta(F \otimes F^{\vee}) \geq 0$  by the Bogomolov inequality.

Choose now a locally free  $E \in Coh(S, \alpha)$  of rank s, and let  $b := ch_2(E \otimes E^{\vee})$ . By Lemma 4.10 we have  $\Delta(F \otimes F^{\vee}) = \Delta_{E \otimes E^{\vee}}(F \otimes F^{\vee})$ , so that  $\Delta_{E \otimes E^{\vee}}(F \otimes F^{\vee}) \geq 0$ . If  $\xi = c_1(F \otimes E^{\vee})$  and  $a = ch_2(F \otimes E^{\vee})$ , it follows from equation (2) that

$$v_{E\otimes E^{\vee}}^{2}(F\otimes F^{\vee}) = \frac{2r^{2}\xi^{2}}{s^{2}} - \frac{4r^{3}a}{s} + \frac{2r^{2}b}{s^{2}} - 2r^{4} = 2r^{2}v_{E}^{2}(F) + 2r^{4}.$$

Hence

$$0 \le \Delta_{E \otimes E^{\vee}}(F \otimes F^{\vee}) = \frac{1}{2r^4} v_{E \otimes E^{\vee}}^2(F \otimes F^{\vee}) + 1 = 2\Delta_E(F).$$

Hence  $\Delta_{\alpha}(F) = \Delta_{E}(F) \geq 0$ , and we are done.

4.2.2. Walls and chambers. Now, let

$$W_{\alpha,v} := \{ D \in NS(S) \mid -\frac{r^4}{2} \Delta_{\alpha}(v) \le D^2 < 0 \}.$$

If  $\alpha = 0$ , we have  $W_{0,v} = W_v$ .

**Definition 4.12.** If  $D \in W_{\alpha,v}$ , we call the hyperplane  $D^{\perp}$  an  $(\alpha, v)$ -wall. A connected component of  $\mathscr{K}_S \setminus \bigcup_{D \in W_{\alpha,v}} D^{\perp}$  is called  $(\alpha, v)$ -chamber. A polarization  $\omega \in \mathscr{K}_S$  is  $(\alpha, v)$ -generic if it lies in a  $(\alpha, v)$ -chamber.

A polarization  $\omega$  is (0, v)—generic if and only if it is v—generic. We are now ready to prove one of the main results of this section about changing polarization inside a chamber. The argument is the same one for untwisted sheaves, here adapted to the twisted case.

**Proposition 4.13.** Let  $\alpha \in Br(S)$ ,  $v \in H^{2*}(S,\mathbb{Q})$  and  $\omega, \omega'$  two  $(\alpha, v)$ -generic polarizations lying in the same  $(\alpha, v)$ -chamber. If  $\mathscr{F} \in Coh(S, \alpha)$  is a torsion free sheaf such that  $v_{\alpha}(\mathscr{F}) = v$ , then  $\mathscr{F}$  is  $\mu_{\alpha,\omega}$ -stable if and only if it is  $\mu_{\alpha,\omega'}$ -stable.

*Proof.* The proof is divided in two steps.

Step 1. Choose an  $\alpha$ -twisted locally free sheaf E, and let  $r := rk(\mathscr{F}), \ \xi := c_1(\mathscr{F} \otimes E^{\vee}), \ a := ch_2(\mathscr{F} \otimes E^{\vee}), \ s := rk(E)$  and b := rk(E)

 $ch_2(E \otimes E^{\vee})$ . Let  $\omega$  be any polarization, and suppose that  $\mathscr{F}$  is properly  $\mu_{\alpha,\omega}$ -semistable: hence there is an  $\alpha$ -twisted subsheaf  $\mathscr{E} \subseteq \mathscr{F}$  such that  $\mu_{E,\omega}(\mathscr{E}) = \mu_{E,\omega}(\mathscr{F})$ . We let  $r' := rk(\mathscr{E})$ ,  $\xi' := c_1(\mathscr{E} \otimes E^{\vee})$  and  $a' := ch_2(\mathscr{E} \otimes E^{\vee})$ , where 0 < r' < r and  $\xi' \in NS(S) \otimes \mathbb{Q}$ . Moreover, let

$$D := r \frac{\xi'}{s} - r' \frac{\xi}{s},$$

so that  $D \cdot \omega = 0$ . Hence  $D^2 \leq 0$ , as  $\omega$  is a Kähler form.

Now, let  $\mathscr{G}:=\mathscr{F}/\mathscr{E}$ , and we suppose without loss of generality that  $\mathscr{E}$  is saturated and that  $\mathscr{E}$  and  $\mathscr{G}$  are  $\mu_{\alpha,\omega}$ -semistable. Moreover, let  $r'':=rk(\mathscr{G}),\ \xi'':=c_1(\mathscr{G}\otimes E^\vee)$  and  $a'':=ch_2(\mathscr{G}\otimes E^\vee)$ , so that  $r''=r-r',\ \xi''=\xi-\xi'$  and a''=a-a'. Finally, let

$$K := \frac{v_{\alpha}^2(\mathscr{F})}{r} - \frac{v_{\alpha}^2(\mathscr{E})}{r'} - \frac{v_{\alpha}^2(\mathscr{G})}{r''}.$$

We notice that as  $\mathscr{E}$  and  $\mathscr{G}$  are  $\mu_{\alpha,\omega}$ -semistable, by Proposition 4.11 we have  $\Delta_{\alpha}(\mathscr{E}), \Delta_{\alpha}(\mathscr{G}) \geq 0$ , meaning  $v_{\alpha}^{2}(\mathscr{E}) \geq -2(r')^{2}$  and  $v_{\alpha}^{2}(\mathscr{G}) \geq -2(r'')^{2}$ . Hence we get

(8) 
$$K \le \frac{v_{\alpha}^2(\mathscr{F})}{r} + 2r.$$

On the other hand, by equation (2) we have

$$K = \frac{\xi^2}{rs^2} - \frac{(\xi')^2}{r's^2} - \frac{(\xi'')^2}{r''s^2} = -\frac{r^2(\xi')^2 + (r')^2\xi^2 - 2rr'\xi\xi'}{s^2rr'r''}.$$

By definition of D we have

$$D^2 = \frac{r^2(\xi')^2 + (r')^2 \xi^2 - 2rr'\xi\xi'}{s^2},$$

so that the inequality (8) implies

$$D^{2} = -rr'r''K \ge -r'(r-r')v_{\alpha}^{2}(\mathscr{F}) - 2r^{2}r'(r-r').$$

But as  $r'(r-r') \le r^2/4$ , we finally get

$$D^2 \ge -\frac{r^2}{4}v_\alpha^2(\mathscr{F}) - \frac{r^4}{2} = -\frac{r^4}{2}\Delta_\alpha(\mathscr{F}) = -\frac{r^4}{2}\Delta_\alpha(v).$$

In conclusion,  $D \in W_{\alpha,v} \cup \{0\}$ .

Step 2. Suppose that  $\mathscr{F}$  is  $\mu_{\alpha,\omega}$ -stable but not  $\mu_{\alpha,\omega'}$ -stable. Let

$$[\omega, \omega'] := \{\omega_t := t\omega' + (1-t)\omega \mid t \in [0, 1]\}$$

be the segment from  $\omega$  to  $\omega'$ , and let  $B_{\alpha}$  be the family of subsheaves of  $\mathscr{F}$  whose slope with respect to E and  $\omega'$  is bounded from below.

If  $\mathscr{E} \in B_{\alpha}$ , then  $\mathscr{E} \otimes E^{\vee}$  is a subsheaf of  $\mathscr{F} \otimes E^{\vee}$ , and  $\mu_{E,\omega}(\mathscr{E}) = \mu_{\omega}(\mathscr{E} \otimes E^{\vee})$ . This implies that  $\mathscr{E} \otimes E^{\vee}$  is in the family B of subsheaves of  $\mathscr{F} \otimes E^{\vee}$  whose slope with respect to  $\omega$  is bounded from below. As the

family B is bounded, it follows that the family  $B_{\alpha}$  is bounded. Using the same argument as in the proof of Lemma 3.1, one can then conclude that there is  $t \in ]0,1]$  such that  $\mathscr{F}$  is properly  $\mu_{\alpha,\omega_t}$ —semistable.

Hence there is a subsheaf  $\mathscr E$  of  $\mathscr F$  of rank 0 < s < r such that  $\mu_{E,\omega_t}(\mathscr E) = \mu_{E,\omega_t}(\mathscr F)$ . If  $D = rc_{E,1}(\mathscr E) - sc_{E,1}(\mathscr F)$ , it follows that  $D \cdot \omega_t = 0$ . As  $D \cdot \omega \neq 0$ , we have  $D \neq 0$ , hence  $D^2 < 0$ . But as  $\mathscr F$  is  $\mu_{E,\omega_t}$ —semistable, Step 1 implies that  $D \in W_{\alpha,v}$ , which is not possible as  $\omega_t$  is in the same  $(\alpha,v)$ —chamber as  $\omega$  and  $\omega'$ . In conclusion, the sheaf  $\mathscr F$  has to be  $\mu_{E,\omega'}$ —stable, and we are done.

4.3. Moduli space of stable twisted sheaves. We now introduce (relative) moduli spaces of stable twisted sheaves. On projective manifolds these were constructed by Yoshioka in [43] (viewing twisted sheaves as  $\mathbb{P}$ —sheaves, and using a GIT construction), and by Lieblich in [25] (viewing twisted sheaves as sheaves on some  $\mathcal{O}^*$ —gerbe).

Here we first provide a relative moduli space of simple twisted sheaves by viewing them as simple  $\mathbb{P}$ —sheaves. The relative moduli space of stable sheaves will then be an open subset of it.

4.3.1. The relative moduli space of simple twisted sheaves. Consider a smooth and proper morphism  $\pi: \mathscr{X} \longrightarrow T$  such that for every  $t \in T$  the fibre  $X_t$  over t is a K3 surface. We assume for simplicity that T is a complex manifold, although the constructions work over complex spaces as well.

Suppose moreover that we are given a complex manifold  $\mathscr{P}$  together with a morphism  $f: \mathscr{P} \longrightarrow \mathscr{X}$  of T-complex spaces such that for every  $t \in T$ , the morphism  $f_t: P_t \longrightarrow X_t$  is a projective bundle, where  $P_t = f^{-1}(X_t)$ . For every  $t \in T$  the projective bundle  $P_t \longrightarrow X_t$  defines a class  $\alpha_t$  in the Brauer group  $Br(X_t)$ .

Now, let  $f' := \pi \circ f$ , so that we get a map  $f' : \mathscr{P} \longrightarrow T$ . By Theorem (6.4) of [22], there is a complex space  $\mathscr{M}(\mathscr{P}/T)$  together with a holomorphic surjective map

$$\phi: \mathscr{M}(\mathscr{P}/T) \longrightarrow T$$

which is a relative moduli space of simple coherent sheaves on  $\mathscr{P}$ : for every  $t \in T$  the fibre  $\mathscr{M}_t$  of  $\phi$  over t is the moduli space of simple coherent sheaves on  $P_t$ .

Now,  $\mathscr{F} \in Coh(P_t)$  is simple if and only if  $End(\mathscr{F}) \simeq \mathbb{C}$ . As  $Coh(P_t, X_t)$  is a full subcategory of  $Coh(P_t)$ , a  $P_t$ -sheaf  $\mathscr{F}$  is simple in  $Coh(P_t, X_t)$  if and only if it is simple in  $Coh(P_t)$ . Hence simple  $P_t$ -sheaves form a subset  $\mathscr{M}^s(\mathscr{P}/T)$  of  $\mathscr{M}(\mathscr{P}/T)$ .

As the condition defining  $\mathbb{P}$ -sheaves is open (see Lemma 1.5 of [43]), it follows that  $\mathcal{M}^s(\mathcal{P}/T)$  is open in  $\mathcal{M}(\mathcal{P}/T)$ , hence it is a complex

space together with a holomorphic map  $\psi: \mathscr{M}^s(\mathscr{P}/T) \longrightarrow T$ . This is the relative moduli space of simple  $\mathscr{P}$ -sheaves on  $\mathscr{X}$ .

The relative projective bundle  $f: \mathscr{P} \longrightarrow \mathscr{X}$  corresponds to the existence of a relative Azumaya algebra  $\mathcal{A}$  on  $\mathscr{X}$ : for every  $t \in T$ , we have  $P_t = \mathbb{P}(E_t)$  for some locally free  $\alpha_t$ -twisted sheaf on  $X_t$ , and we let  $\mathcal{A}_t := E_t \otimes E_t^{\vee}$ . The previous equivalence of categories of twisted sheaves then shows that  $\mathscr{M}^s(\mathscr{P}/T)$  is the relative moduli space of simple  $\mathcal{A}$ -modules on  $\mathscr{X}$  or, equivalently, the relative moduli space of simple twisted sheaves on  $\mathscr{X}$ .

4.3.2. The relative moduli space of stable twisted sheaves. We now produce out of  $\psi: \mathcal{M}^s(\mathcal{P}/T) \longrightarrow T$  the relative moduli space of stable twisted sheaves. Choose  $v = (v_0, v_1, v_2) \in H^{2*}(S, \mathbb{Q})$  such that  $v_1 \in NS(S_t)$  for every  $t \in T$ , and  $v_0 \geq 2$ . We let  $\mathcal{M}_v^s(\mathcal{P}/T)$  be the component of  $\mathcal{M}^s(\mathcal{P}/T)$  parametrizing simple  $\mathbb{P}$ -sheaves of Mukai vector v, and we write  $\psi_v: \mathcal{M}_v^s(\mathcal{P}/T) \longrightarrow T$  for  $\psi_{|\mathcal{M}_v^s(\mathcal{P}/T)}$ .

In order to define the moduli space of stable twisted sheaves of Mukai vector v, we need a section  $\widetilde{\omega} \in R^2\pi_*\mathbb{C}$  such that  $\omega_t := \widetilde{\omega}_{|X_t}$  is a Kähler class for every  $t \in T$ , which is used to define stability on every fibre. As stable twisted sheaves are simple, we let  $\mathscr{M}_v^{\mu}(\mathscr{P}/T,\widetilde{\omega})$  be the subset of  $\mathscr{M}_v^s(\mathscr{P}/T)$  whose fibre over  $t \in T$  is given by the simple  $P_t$ -sheaves which are  $\mu_{P_t,\omega_t}$ -stable and whose Mukai vector is v. We then have a natural map (of sets)

$$p: \mathscr{M}^{\mu}_{v}(\mathscr{P}/T, \widetilde{\omega}) \longrightarrow T.$$

The main result of this section is the following

**Proposition 4.14.** Let  $\pi: \mathscr{X} \longrightarrow T$ ,  $f: \mathscr{P} \longrightarrow \mathscr{X}$ , v and  $\widetilde{\omega}$  be as before. Then  $\mathscr{M}_v^{\mu}(\mathscr{P}/T,\widetilde{\omega})$  is an open subset of  $\mathscr{M}_v^s(\mathscr{P}/T)$ . Hence it is a complex manifold, and the map p is holomorphic.

Proof. By Remark 4.6, the openness can be proved as in Lemma 3.7 of [32]. Indeed, if  $\mathscr{F} \in Coh(\mathbb{P},S)$  and  $F := P(\mathscr{F})^{\vee\vee}$ , then  $\mathscr{F}$  is  $\mu_{\mathbb{P},\omega}$ -stable if and only if  $P(\mathscr{F}) \otimes P(F)^{\vee}$  is  $\mu_{\mathcal{A},\omega}$ -stable in  $Coh(S,\mathcal{A})$ , where  $\mathcal{A} = P(F) \otimes P(F)^{\vee}$ . Moreover, the openness of stability in the analytic case may be proved in the usual way, by using boundedness results which are contained in [37] and [38]. The separatedness follows from Proposition (6.6) of [22] since the parameterized sheaves are stable.

Standard deformation arguments following [5] allow us to show that if  $p: \mathcal{M} := \mathcal{M}_v^{\mu}(\mathcal{P}/\mathcal{X}, \widetilde{\omega}) \longrightarrow T$  is the relative moduli space of twisted stable sheaves, then for every  $t \in T$  and for every  $\mathcal{F} \in p^{-1}(t) = \mathcal{M}_t$ 

we have

$$T_{[\mathscr{F}]}\mathscr{M}_t \simeq Ext^1_{Coh(X_t,\alpha_t)}(P(\mathscr{F}),P(\mathscr{F})),$$

that the obstruction for the existence of deformations of  $\mathscr{F}$  live in

$$Ext^2_{Coh(X_t,\alpha_t)}(P(\mathscr{F}),P(\mathscr{F})),$$

and that we have an exact sequence

(9) 
$$Ext^{1}_{Coh(X_{t},\alpha_{t})}(P(\mathscr{F}), P(\mathscr{F})) \longrightarrow T_{[\mathscr{F}]}\mathscr{M} \longrightarrow T_{t}T \longrightarrow Ext^{2}_{Coh(X_{t},\alpha_{t})}(P(\mathscr{F}), P(\mathscr{F}))_{0}.$$

It follows from this exact sequence and by the previous discussion, that the morphism  $p: \mathcal{M} \longrightarrow T$  is smooth.

If T is reduced to a point, then X is just a K3 surface S and  $P \longrightarrow S$  is a projective bundle whose class in Br(S) is  $\alpha$ . The moduli space of  $\mu_{\alpha,\omega}$ -stable  $\alpha$ -twisted sheaves of twisted Mukai vector v on S will then be denoted  $M^{\mu}_{\alpha,v}(S,\omega)$ .

**Remark 4.15.** Suppose that  $\alpha = 0$  and let

$$\gamma := \frac{ch(\mathscr{F}^{\vee})}{\sqrt{ch(\mathscr{F} \otimes \mathscr{F}^{\vee})}}$$

for  $\mathscr{F} \in M^{\mu}_{0,v}(S,\omega)$ . Then  $v_0(\mathscr{F}) = v$  if and only if  $v(\mathscr{F}) = v/\gamma$ , so that  $M^{\mu}_{0,v}(S,\omega) \simeq M^{\mu}_{v/\gamma}(S,\omega)$ . We even notice that  $\omega$  is (0,v)-generic if and only if it is  $v/\gamma$ -generic.

4.3.3. Moduli spaces of stable twisted sheaves over projective K3 surfaces. If the base K3 surface S is projective, from [43] we have some informations more about the moduli spaces of stable twisted sheaves. We make use of the following notation: let  $\alpha \in Br(S)$  and  $\mathscr{F}$  a torsion free  $\alpha$ -twisted sheaf whose twisted Mukai vector is w = (r, 0, a).

We let F be a locally free  $\alpha$ -twisted sheaf and  $\xi$  be a representative of the class of  $\mathbb{P}(E)$  in  $H^2(S,\mathbb{Z})$ . We let  $e^{\xi/r}:=(1,\xi/r,\xi^2/2r^2)$  and  $w_{\xi}:=e^{\xi/r}\cdot w$ , so that

$$w_{\xi} = (r, \xi, a + \xi^2/2r).$$

It is worthwhile to notice that there is a topological vector bundle  $E_{\xi}$  on S such that  $v(E_{\xi}) = w_{\xi}$ . As shown in [43], we have  $w_{\xi} \in H^{2}(S, \mathbb{Z})$  (while in general we have  $w \in H^{2}(S, \mathbb{Q})$ ).

**Remark 4.16.** If  $\alpha = 0$  and  $\mathscr{F}$  is a  $\mu_{\omega}$ -stable sheaf whose Mukai vector is  $v = (r, \xi, a)$ , write a = c + r where  $c = ch_2(\mathscr{F})$ . The 0-twisted Mukai vector of  $\mathscr{F}$  is then w = (r, 0, r + a'/2r), where  $a' = ch_2(\mathscr{F} \otimes \mathscr{F}^{\vee\vee})$ . We notice that  $a' = 2rc - \xi^2$ , hence  $w = (r, 0, r + c - \xi^2/2r)$ .

A representative of the class of  $\mathbb{P}(E)$  in this case can be chosen to be  $\xi$  itself. Hence we have

$$w_{\xi} = e^{\xi/r} w = (r, \xi, r + c) = v.$$

The following is Theorem 3.16 of [43]:

**Theorem 4.17.** Let S be a projective K3 surface,  $w = (r, \zeta, b) \in H^2(S, \mathbb{Q})$  and  $\alpha \in Br(S)$ . Choose a representative  $\xi$  of  $\alpha$  in  $H^2(S, \mathbb{Z})$ , and suppose that  $w_{\xi}$  is primitive. Moreover, let H be a  $(\alpha, w)$ -generic ample line bundle on S. Then the moduli space  $M^s_{\alpha,w}(S, H)$  is an irreducible symplectic manifold which is deformation equivalent to a Hilbert scheme of points on S.

We have the following result, which is the twisted version of Theorem 3.4:

**Proposition 4.18.** Let S be a projective K3 surface,  $w=(r,\zeta,b)$  a Mukai vector and  $\alpha \in Br(S)$ . Choose  $\xi$  to be a representative of  $\alpha$  in  $H^2(S,\mathbb{Z})$ , and suppose that r and  $\xi$  are prime to each other. If  $\omega$  is a  $(\alpha,w)$ -generic polarization, then  $M^{\mu}_{\alpha,w}(S,\omega)$  is an irreducible symplectic manifold which is deformation equivalent to a Hilbert scheme of points on S.

*Proof.* By Lemma 3.3, Proposition 4.13 and following the same proof of Theorem 3.4, we see that there is an ample line bundle H such that  $M^{\mu}_{\alpha,w}(S,\omega) = M^{\mu}_{\alpha,w}(S,H)$ . This last moduli space is an irreducible symplectic manifold which is deformation equivalent to a Hilbert scheme of points on S by Theorem 4.17.

4.3.4. Quasi-universal families. We conclude this section with the following result about the existence of a quasi-universal family; cf. [1] for the absolute untwisted case.

**Proposition 4.19.** Let  $\pi: \mathscr{X} \longrightarrow T$ ,  $f: \mathscr{P} \longrightarrow \mathscr{X}$ ,  $v = (v_0, v_1, v_2)$  and  $\widetilde{\omega}$  be as before. Let  $\mathcal{A}$  be a relative Azumaya algebra corresponding to  $\mathscr{P}$ , and for every  $t \in T$  let  $\alpha_t \in Br(X_t)$  be the class of  $\mathcal{A}_t$ . Suppose that there is a locally free  $\mathcal{A}$ -module  $\mathcal{V}$  verifying the two following properties for every  $t \in T$ :

- (1) the restriction  $V_t$  of V to  $X_t$  is  $\mu_{\alpha_t,\omega_t}$ -stable;
- (2) the twisted Mukai vector of  $V_t$  is  $(v_0, v_1, w_2)$ , where  $w_2 < v_2$ . Then there is a quasi-universal family on  $\mathscr{M}_v^{\mu}(\mathscr{P}/T, \widetilde{\omega}) \times_T \mathscr{X}$ .

*Proof.* Let  $\mathscr{M} := \mathscr{M}^{\mu}_{\widetilde{v}}(\mathscr{P}/T, \widetilde{\omega})$ . As for stable coherent sheaves, there is an open covering  $\mathscr{U} = \{U_i\}_{i \in I}$  of  $\mathscr{M}$  given by analytic subsets endowed with universal  $\mathscr{A}$ -modules  $\mathscr{F}_i$ .

Let  $p_i: U_i \times_T \mathscr{X} \to U_i$  and  $q_i: U_i \times_T \mathscr{X} \to \mathscr{X}$  denote the two projections. We put  $\mathscr{E}_i := \mathscr{F}_i \otimes_{q_i^* \mathcal{A}} q_i^* \mathcal{V}^{\vee}$ . By the choice of  $\mathcal{V}$  we have  $R^0 p_{i,*} \mathscr{E}_i = 0 = R^2 p_{i,*} \mathscr{E}_i$  and  $W_i := R^1 p_{i,*} \mathscr{E}_i$  is a non-trivial locally free  $\mathscr{O}_{U_i}$ -module whose rank is independent of i.

It is easy to check now that the  $\mathcal{A}$ -modules  $\mathscr{F}_i \otimes_{\mathscr{O}} p_i^* W_i^{\vee}$  glue together to give the desired quasi-universal family.

4.4. Deformation of stable twisted sheaves along twistor lines. In this subsection we describe and generalize a construction used by several authors in the case of stable locally free sheaves of slope zero, cf. [35], [39], [40], [27].

Let  $(S, I, \omega)$  be a polarized K3 surface and  $\pi: Z(S) \longrightarrow \mathbb{P}^1$  its twistor family. We suppose that the fibre over 0 is  $S_0 = (S, I)$ , and we write  $S_t = (S, I_t)$  for the fibre over t. Here  $I = I_0$  and  $I_t$  denote the complex structures on S. With this convention we have  $S_{\infty} = (S, I_{\infty}) = (S, -I)$ . Recall that the choice of  $\omega$  on (S, I) is equivalent to the choice of a Riemannian metric g which is compatible with I and whose associated Kähler class is  $\omega$ . Along the twistor line the metric g remains compatible with  $I_t$ , the associated class  $\omega_t$  is Kähler, and we get a section  $\widetilde{\omega}$  of  $R^2\pi_*\mathbb{C}$  which is  $\omega_t$  on  $S_t$ . Slope stability on  $S_t$  will be considered with respect to  $\omega_t$ .

Before we introduce deformations of sheaves along twistor lines we make an observation on (1,1)-forms on the twistor space of S. Recall that, as a differentiable manifold, Z(S) is the product  $S \times \mathbb{P}^1$ , which is endowed with a complex structure in the following way (see [13]): cover  $\mathbb{P}^1$  by two charts (each isomorphic to  $\mathbb{C}$ ) and take  $\zeta$  the complex coordinate function on one of them and  $\zeta^{-1}$  on the other. Further, let I, J, K be the complex structures on S which make it into a hyperkähler manifold. If  $I_{\mathbb{P}^1}$  is the complex structure on  $\mathbb{P}^1$  then put the following complex structure to act on the tangent space  $T_S \times T_{\mathbb{P}^1}$  of  $S \times \mathbb{P}^1$ :

$$\mathfrak{I}:=\bigg(\frac{1-\zeta\bar{\zeta}}{1+\zeta\bar{\zeta}}I+\frac{\zeta+\bar{\zeta}}{1+\zeta\bar{\zeta}}J+i\frac{\zeta-\bar{\zeta}}{1+\zeta\bar{\zeta}}K,I_{\mathbb{P}^1}\bigg).$$

With respect to this complex structure the projection  $q: S \times \mathbb{P}^1 \to S$  is not holomorphic but only  $C^{\infty}$ .

**Lemma 4.20.** Let  $\psi$  be a (1,1)-form on  $(S,I,\omega)$ . Its pull-back  $q^*\psi$  is a (1,1)-form on Z(S) if and only if  $\psi$  is anti-self-dual on  $(S,I,\omega)$ .

Proof. Let  $\Psi := q^*\psi$ . It is a 2-form on Z(S), so it is of type (1,1) if and only if  $\Psi(\Im v, \Im w) = \Psi(v, w)$  for any pair (v, w) of real tangent vectors at a point of Z(S). As  $\Im$  preserves the horizontal and the vertical directions on  $Z(S) = S \times \mathbb{P}^1$ , and as  $\Psi(v, w) = 0$  if one of the tangent

vectors v or w is horizontal, it suffices to check  $\Psi(\Im v, \Im w) = \Psi(v, w)$  only on vertical vectors, meaning that the restrictions of  $\Psi$  to the fibres of  $\pi: Z(S) \longrightarrow \mathbb{P}^1$  are of type (1,1).

Suppose that  $\psi$  is anti-self-dual. This property only depends on g and on the orientation of S: as g is compatible with each complex structure  $I_t$ , it follows that the restriction of  $\Psi$  to each fibre of  $\pi$  is then anti-self-dual. In particular, it is of type (1,1), hence also  $\Psi$  is of type (1,1) on Z(S).

Conversely, if  $\psi$  is not anti-self-dual, then it decomposes as  $\psi = \psi^{SD} + \psi^{ASD}$ , where the self-dual part is of the form  $\psi^{SD} = f\omega_I$  for some non-zero function f. But  $\omega_I$  is not of type (1,1) with respect to J so neither will be  $\Psi$ .

We now turn to deformations of sheaves along the twistor line.

4.4.1. Deformation of a locally free polystable sheaf with trivial slope. Let  $E_0$  be a polystable vector bundle on  $S_0$  whose slope is zero, and denote by  $E^{\infty}$  the  $C^{\infty}$ -vector bundle underlying  $E_0$ . The Kobayashi-Hitchin correspondence provides  $E^{\infty}$  with an ASD-connection. By Lemma 4.20 the curvature of the connection is of (1,1)-type on each  $S_t$ . We therefore obtain holomorphic structures  $E_t$  on  $E^{\infty}$  over each  $S_t$ , induced by the structure  $E_0$  in a canonical way. In fact we even get a holomorphic structure on  $q^*E^{\infty}$ ; denote by  $\tilde{E}$  the corresponding sheaf of holomorphic sections over Z(S). As  $E_t$  is holomorphic and carries an ASD-connection, it is polystable for every  $t \in \mathbb{P}^1$ . It is easy to see that if  $E_0$  is stable, then  $E_t$  is stable for every  $t \in \mathbb{P}^1$ .

4.4.2. Deformation of an Azumaya algebra. Let now  $\mathcal{A}_0$  be an Azumaya algebra on  $S_0$ , and let  $\alpha_0$  be its class in  $Br(S_0)$ . Choose a locally free  $\alpha_0$ —twisted sheaf  $E_0$  such that  $\mathcal{A}_0 \simeq \mathscr{E}nd(E_0)$ . We will suppose that  $E_0$  is  $\mu_{\alpha_0,\omega_0}$ —stable.

The Kobayashi-Hitchin correspondence for twisted sheaves established by Wang in [41] shows that  $\mathcal{A}_0$  is  $\mu_{\omega_0}$ -polystable. Notice that  $\mu_{\omega_0}(\mathcal{A}_0) = 0$ , hence by section 4.4.1 the vector bundle  $\mathcal{A} := q^* \mathcal{A}_0$  carries a holomorphic structure, and for every  $t \in \mathbb{P}^1$  its restriction  $\mathcal{A}_t$  to the fibre  $S_t$  is a  $\mu_{\omega_t}$ -polystable vector bundle with trivial slope. We need to show that  $\mathcal{A}_t$  is an Azumaya algebra.

To do so, we argue as in the proof of Lemma 6.5 in [27], point (3). The Azumaya algebra structure on  $\mathcal{A}_0$  is given by a holomorphic map  $m_0: \mathcal{A}_0 \otimes \mathcal{A}_0 \longrightarrow \mathcal{A}_0$  verifying some identities among holomorphic sections. This means that  $m_0$  is a holomorphic section of the vector bundle  $\mathscr{H}om(\mathcal{A}_0 \otimes \mathcal{A}_0, \mathcal{A}_0)$ . But this is  $\mu_{\omega_0}$ -polystable as  $\mathcal{A}_0$  is, hence it carries an ASD-connection, and  $m_0$  is parallel with respect to it.

As a consequence,  $m_0$  defines a parallel section of  $\mathscr{H}om(\mathcal{A}_t \otimes \mathcal{A}_t, \mathcal{A}_t)$ , hence a holomorphic map  $m_t : \mathcal{A}_t \otimes \mathcal{A}_t \longrightarrow \mathcal{A}_t$ . Hence  $\mathcal{A}_t$  is an  $\mathscr{O}_{S_t}$ -algebra: as the same identities among sections which are verified on  $\mathcal{A}_0$  are verified even on  $\mathcal{A}_t$ , it follows that  $\mathcal{A}_t$  is an Azumaya algebra.

4.4.3. Deformation of a stable twisted vector bundle. Let  $\alpha_0 \in Br(S_0)$  and  $F_0$  an  $\alpha_0$ -twisted locally free sheaf which is  $\mu_{\alpha_0,\omega_0}$ -stable. Choose an  $\alpha_0$ -twisted locally free sheaf  $E_0$  which is  $\mu_{\alpha_0,\omega_0}$ -stable in such a way that  $c_{E_0,1}(\mathscr{F}_0) = 0$ .

We let  $G_0 := F_0 \otimes E_0^{\vee}$  and  $A_0 := E_0 \otimes E_0^{\vee}$ : then  $A_0$  is an Azumaya algebra, and as we saw in section 4.4.2 it is a polystable sheaf. Moreover,  $G_0$  is a locally free sheaf of trivial slope and it has the structure of  $A_0$ —module. The Kobayashi-Hitchin correspondence for twisted sheaves in [41] shows that  $G_0$  is a polystable sheaf.

Following section 4.4.2,  $q^* \mathcal{A}_0$  is a holomorphic vector bundle, and for every  $t \in \mathbb{P}^1$  its restriction  $\mathcal{A}_t$  to  $S_t$  is a polystable sheaf having the structure of Azumaya algebra. We let  $\alpha_t$  be its class in  $Br(S_t)$ .

By section 4.4.2 the polystable sheaf  $G_0$  gives rise, for every  $t \in \mathbb{P}^1$ , to a polystable sheaf  $G_t$  with trivial slope. The same argument used in section 4.4.2 to show that  $\mathcal{A}_t$  is an Azumaya algebra, applied this time to  $m_t : \mathcal{A}_t \otimes G_t \longrightarrow G_t$ , shows that the sheaf  $G_t$  has the structure of an  $\mathcal{A}_t$ -module.

As  $G_t$  is an  $\mathcal{A}_t$ -module, it corresponds to an  $\alpha_t$ -twisted locally free sheaf  $F_t$  on  $S_t$ . In particular  $E_0$  gives rise to an  $\alpha_t$ -twisted locally free sheaf  $E_t$  on  $S_t$  such that  $\mathscr{E}nd(E_t) \simeq \mathcal{A}_t$  and  $F_t \otimes E_t^{\vee} \simeq G_t$ .

**Lemma 4.21.** The sheaves  $F_t$  and  $E_t$  are  $\mu_{\alpha_t,\omega_t}$ -stable.

*Proof.* We show that  $E_t$  is  $\mu_{\alpha_t,\omega_t}$ -stable. The proof for  $F_t$  is similar. Suppose that  $E_t$  is not  $\mu_{\alpha_t,\omega_t}$ -stable, and let  $\mathscr{E}_t \subseteq E_t$  in  $Coh(S_t, \alpha_t)$  with  $\mu_{E_t,\omega_t}(\mathscr{E}_t) \ge \mu_{E_t,\omega_t}(E_t)$ . We suppose that  $\mathscr{E}_t$  is  $\mu_{\alpha_t,\omega_t}$ -stable.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>If  $E_0$  is an untwisted sheaf, we can give a more direct proof. The multiplication of two holomorphic sections  $\phi_1$ ,  $\phi_2$  of  $\mathcal{A}_t$  remains holomorphic (hence  $\mathcal{A}_t$  is a sheaf of algebras on  $S_t$ ): this is a consequence of the formula  $\hat{D}(\phi_1 \circ \phi_2) = \hat{D}\phi_1 \circ \phi_2 + \phi_1 \circ \hat{D}\phi_2$ , where  $\hat{D}$  is the connection induced by D on  $\mathcal{A}_0$ .

By [6, Thm. 1.1.6] we just need to show that  $\mathcal{A}_t$  is locally of the form  $\mathscr{E}nd(F)$  for some locally free sheaf F of  $\mathscr{O}_{S_t}$ -modules. To do so, consider the self-dual part  $R_{SD}$  of the curvature R of D. We have  $R_{SD} = c \cdot Id \cdot \omega_0$  for a suitable constant c. By solving the equation  $dd^c\phi = -\frac{c}{r}\omega_0$  on a open subset U, we find a holomorphic hermitian line bundle (L,h) on U whose curvature is  $-\frac{c}{r}\omega_0$ . Hence  $F^{\infty} := E_0 \otimes L$  is a rank r vector bundle on U with a Hermite-Einstein connection, and  $\mathcal{A}^{\infty} \cong \mathscr{E}nd^{\infty}(F^{\infty})$  as ASD-vector bundles. Hence on  $F^{\infty}$  we have a holomorphic structure  $F_t$  compatible with the corresponding  $I_t$ , and  $\mathcal{A}_t \cong \mathscr{E}nd(F_t)$ .

We let  $\mathcal{H}_t := \mathscr{E}_t \otimes E_t^{\vee}$ , which is an  $\mathcal{A}_t$ -module and we have  $\mathcal{H}_t \subseteq \mathcal{A}_t$ . The inequality  $\mu_{E_t,\omega_t}(\mathscr{E}_t) \geq \mu_{E_t,\omega_t}(E_t)$  gives  $\mu_{\mathcal{A}_t,\omega_t}(\mathcal{H}_t) \geq \mu_{\mathcal{A}_t,\omega_t}(\mathcal{A}_t)$ , so that  $\mu_{\omega_t}(\mathcal{H}_t) \geq \mu_{\omega_t}(\mathcal{A}_t) = 0$ . As  $\mathcal{A}_t$  is  $\mu_{\omega_t}$ -polystable, this implies that  $\mu_{\omega_t}(\mathcal{H}_t) = 0$ , and that it is a direct summand of  $\mathcal{A}_t$ . In particular, it is  $\mu_{\omega_t}$ -polystable.

Using the same argument given before, the sheaf  $\mathcal{H}_t$  gives rise to a  $\mu_{\omega_0}$ -polystable sheaf  $\mathcal{H}_0$  on  $S_0$ , which is contained in  $\mathcal{A}_0$ , has the structure of  $\mathcal{A}_0$ -module, and  $\mu_{\omega_0}(\mathcal{H}_0) = \mu_{\omega_0}(\mathcal{A}_0) = 0$ . The equivalence between  $Coh(S_0, \alpha_0)$  and  $Coh(S_0, \mathcal{A}_0)$  given by tensoring with  $E_0^{\vee}$  produces then a subsheaf  $\mathscr{E}_0$  of  $E_0$  such that  $\mu_{E_0,\omega_0}(\mathscr{E}_0) = \mu_{E_0,\omega_0}(E_0)$ . But this is not possible as  $E_0$  is  $\mu_{\alpha_0,\omega_0}$ -stable. In conclusion, the sheaf  $E_t$  is  $\mu_{\alpha_t,\omega_t}$ -stable.

4.5. Relative moduli space of twisted sheaves on twistor lines. In this section we show that the relative moduli space of stable twisted sheaves gives us a way to deform the moduli spaces  $M_{\alpha,w}^{\mu}(S,\omega)$  to an irreducible symplectic manifold (which is moreover deformation equivalent to a Hilbert scheme of points on projective K3 surface).

We let S be a K3 surface,  $w = (r, 0, a) \in H^{2*}(S, \mathbb{Z})$  with  $r \geq 2$ ,  $\alpha \in Br(S)$  and  $\omega$  an  $(\alpha, w)$ -generic polarization. The Kähler class  $\omega$  corresponds to the choice of a Riemannian metric g which is compatible with the complex structure I of S, and whose associated Kähler class is  $\omega$ . Let  $\pi : Z(S) \longrightarrow \mathbb{P}^1$  be the twistor family of g: we denote  $S_t$  the fibre of  $\pi$  over t, which corresponds to a complex structure  $I_t$  on S associated with t. The metric g is compatible with  $I_t$ , the associated class  $\omega_t$  is Kähler, and w is a Mukai vector on  $S_t$  for every  $t \in \mathbb{P}^1$ .

Choose now a  $\mu_{\alpha,\omega}$ -stable  $\alpha$ -twisted sheaf  $\mathscr{E}$  on S of rank r, and let  $E := \mathscr{E}^{\vee\vee}$ : this is a  $\mu_{\alpha,\omega}$ -stable  $\alpha$ -twisted vector bundle of rank r, and we let  $\mathcal{A}_0 := \mathscr{E}nd(E)$  the corresponding Azumaya algebra. We suppose that  $v_E(\mathscr{E}) = w$ . By section 4.4.2, there is holomorphic vector bundle  $\mathcal{A}$  on Z(S) whose restriction  $\mathcal{A}_t$  to  $S_t$  is an Azumaya algebra on  $S_t$  for every  $t \in \mathbb{P}^1$ . We let  $\alpha_t \in Br(S_t)$  be its class and  $\mathcal{A}_t \simeq \mathscr{E}nd(E_t)$ , where  $E_t$  is the deformation of E along the twistor line (see section 4.4.3).

By section 4.3.2 there is then a relative moduli space of stable twisted sheaves  $p: \mathcal{M} \longrightarrow \mathbb{P}^1$  such that for every  $t \in \mathbb{P}^1$  the fibre over t is the moduli space  $M^{\mu}_{\alpha_t,w}(S_t,\omega_t)$  of  $\mu_{\alpha_t,\omega_t}$ -stable  $\alpha_t$ -twisted sheaves whose twisted Mukai vector with respect to  $E_t$  is w.

**Remark 4.22.** On  $\mathcal{M} \times_{\mathbb{P}^1} Z(S)$  we have a quasi-universal family: if  $\mathscr{F} \in M^{\mu}_{\alpha,w}(S,\omega)$ , let  $F := \mathscr{F}^{\vee\vee}$  and  $\mathcal{V}_0 := F \otimes E^{\vee}$ . We let  $\mathcal{V}$  in Proposition 4.19 be  $\mathcal{V} := q^*\mathcal{V}_0$ .

We first prove some geometrical properties of the relative moduli space  $p: \mathcal{M} \longrightarrow \mathbb{P}^1$ .

**Proposition 4.23.** Let S be a K3 surface,  $w = (r, 0, a) \in H^{2*}(S, \mathbb{Z})$  with  $r \geq 2$ ,  $\alpha \in Br(S)$  and  $\omega$  a  $(\alpha, w)$ -generic polarization. The relative moduli space  $p : \mathcal{M} \longrightarrow \mathbb{P}^1$  of stable twisted sheaves verifies the following properties:

- (1) the morphism p is submersive;
- (2) if  $T_p^*$  denotes the relative cotangent bundle of p, there is a holomorphic global section of  $\wedge^2 T_p^* \otimes \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^1}(2)$  whose restriction to any fibre is a holomorphic symplectic form;

*Proof.* We divide the proof in several parts.

Step 1: submersivity. As every  $\mathscr{E} \in \mathscr{M}_t$  is simple and the canonical bundle of a K3 surface is trivial, we have  $Ext^2(\mathscr{E},\mathscr{E})_0 = 0$ . The exact sequence (9) implies then that the map p is submersive, so that condition (1) of the statement is proved.

Step 2: section through locally free sheaves. Let  $t_0 \in \mathbb{P}^1$ , and choose  $F \in M^{\mu}_{\alpha_{t_0},w}(S_{t_0},\omega_{t_0})$  a locally free sheaf. As we saw in section 4.4.3, the sheaf F gives rise to a sheaf  $F_t \in M^{\mu}_{\alpha_t,w}(S_t,\omega_t)$  for every  $t \in \mathbb{P}^1$ . This produces a section

$$s_F: \mathbb{P}^1 \longrightarrow \mathscr{M}, \quad s_F(t) := F_t$$

of p, which is holomorphic. If we let  $E_t$  be the  $\alpha_t$ -twisted  $\mu_{\alpha_t,\omega_t}$ -stable sheaf such that  $\mathcal{A}_t = \mathcal{E}nd(E_t)$  (an Azumaya algebra on  $S_t$  whose class in  $Br(S_t)$  is  $\alpha_t$ ), and  $G_t := F_t \otimes E_t^{\vee}$ , we let  $\mathcal{G} := q^*G_t$ , which is a holomorphic vector bundle on Z(S). The restriction of the relative tangent bundle  $T_p$  of p to the section s is

$$s^*T_p \simeq R^1 \pi_* \mathcal{E} nd(\mathcal{G}).$$

Step 3: relative symplectic form. We prove that the condition (2) is fulfilled. We first notice that for every  $t \in \mathbb{P}^1$  the restriction  $T_{p|t}$  of  $T_p$  to  $\mathscr{M}_t$  is the tangent bundle of  $M^{\mu}_{\alpha_t,w}(S_t,\omega_t)$ , and similarly the restriction  $(T^*_p)_{|t}$  of  $T^*_p$  to  $\mathscr{M}_t$  is the cotangent bundle of  $M^{\mu}_{\alpha_t,w}(S_t,\omega_t)$ . As on  $M^{\mu}_{\alpha_t,w}(S_t,\omega_t)$  we have a holomorphic symplectic form (if  $S_t$  is projective, this is done in [43]; the proof in the general case is similar), we get an isomorphism  $T_{p|t} \simeq (T^*_p)_t$ .

This implies the existence of a line bundle  $\mathscr{O}_{\mathbb{P}^1}(d)$  for some  $d \in \mathbb{Z}$  together with an isomorphism  $T_p \longrightarrow T_p^* \otimes p^* \mathscr{O}_{\mathbb{P}^1}(d)$ . We then just need to show that d = 2. To do so, consider a locally free sheaf  $F \in \mathscr{M}_0$ : as seen in Step 2 we have a holomorphic section  $s : \mathbb{P}^1 \longrightarrow \mathscr{M}$  of p, and

$$s^*T_p \simeq R^1 p_* \mathcal{E} nd(\mathcal{G})$$

where  $\mathcal{G} = q^*(F \otimes E_0^{\vee})$ . By the relative Serre duality we get

$$R^1 p_* \mathscr{E} nd(\mathcal{G}) \simeq (R^1 p_* \mathscr{E} nd(\mathcal{G})^* \otimes K_\pi)^*,$$

where  $K_{\pi}$  is the relative canonical bundle of  $\pi: Z(S) \longrightarrow \mathbb{P}^1$ .

Now, as  $\mathcal{G}$  is locally free, we have  $\mathscr{E}nd(\mathcal{G}) \simeq \mathscr{E}nd(\mathcal{G})^*$ . Moreover,  $K_{\pi} \simeq \mathscr{O}_{\mathbb{P}^1}(-2)$  (see [13]), hence

$$R^1 p_* \mathscr{E} nd(\mathcal{G}) \simeq R^1 p_* \mathscr{E} nd(\mathcal{G})^* \otimes \mathscr{O}_{\mathbb{P}^1}(2).$$

In conclusion,

$$s^*T_p \simeq s^*T_p^* \otimes \mathscr{O}_{\mathbb{P}^1}(2).$$

As  $s^*T_p \simeq s^*T_p^* \otimes \mathscr{O}_{\mathbb{P}^1}(d)$ , it follows d=2. This shows that condition (2) is fulfilled.

We now prove some geometrical properties of the moduli spaces of stable twisted sheaves we are considering: in particular, we show that they are all compact and connected.

**Proposition 4.24.** Let S be a K3 surface,  $w=(r,0,a) \in H^{2*}(S,\mathbb{Z})$  with  $r \geq 2$ ,  $\alpha \in Br(S)$  and  $\omega$  a  $(\alpha,w)$ -generic polarization. Moreover, let  $\xi$  be a representative of  $\alpha$  in  $H^2(S,\mathbb{Z})$  which is prime with r. The moduli space  $M^{\mu}_{\alpha,w}(S,\omega)$  is a compact, connected manifold.

*Proof.* The compactness of  $M^{\mu}_{\alpha,w}(S,\omega)$  is well known when S is projective and a proof in the non-projective and non-twisted case has been given in [36]. This proof uses in an essential way the comparison map from the moduli space of stable sheaves to the corresponding Donaldson-Uhlenbeck compactification of the moduli space of anti-self-dual connections in a hermitian vector bundle on S. These arguments may be extended to the twisted case. We refer the reader to [36] and [41] for the ingredients.

To show that  $M^{\mu}_{\alpha,w}(S,\omega)$  is connected, we will follow the strategy used by Mukai and by Kaledin, Lehn and Sorger to prove the analogous result when S is projective,  $\omega$  is the first Chern class of an ample line bundle, and the sheaves are untwisted (see the proof of Theorem 4.1 in [21]).

We first suppose that the moduli space  $M^{\mu}_{\alpha,w}(S,\omega)$  is not connected, and we choose a connected component Y. Moreover, we fix a sheaf  $F \in Y$  and a sheaf  $G \in M^{\mu}_{\alpha,w}(S,\omega) \setminus Y$ .

Let  $p: Y \times S \longrightarrow Y$  and  $q: Y \times S \longrightarrow S$  be the two projections, and consider a  $p^*\beta \cdot q^*\alpha$ -twisted universal family  $\mathscr{F}$  on  $Y \times S$ . We then define two complexes

$$K_F^{\bullet}:=\mathscr{E}xt_p^{\bullet}(q^*F,\mathscr{F}), \qquad K_G^{\bullet}:=\mathscr{E}xt_p^{\bullet}(q^*G,\mathscr{F})$$

of  $\beta$ -twisted sheaves on Y.

As the sheaves F and G have the same topological invariants (since their Mukai vectors are equal), letting d := dim(Y), by the Grothendieck-Riemann-Roch Theorem we have  $c_d^B(K_F^{\bullet}) = c_d^B(K_G^{\bullet})$ , where  $c_d^B$  is the component of degree 2d of  $c^B$  (for some B-field giving the twist  $\beta$ ).

We now compute more explicitly these twisted Chern classes, and we start from  $K_G^{\bullet}$ . We notice that if  $E \in Y$ , then E is a stable twisted sheaf having the same slope of G, but which is not isomorphic to G. It follows that

$$Ext^{0}(G, F) = Ext^{2}(G, F) = 0.$$

As

$$\mathscr{E}xt_p^j(q^*G,\mathscr{F})_E \simeq Ext^j(G,E),$$

it follows that

$$\mathscr{E}xt_p^j(q^*G,\mathscr{F})=0$$

if j = 0, 2, and that  $\mathscr{E}xt_p^1(q^*G, \mathscr{F})$  is a locally free  $\beta$ -twisted sheaf whose rank is d-2.

As a consequence we have

$$c_d^B(K_G^{\bullet}) = -c_d^B(\mathscr{E}xt_p^1(q^*G,\mathscr{F})) = 0,$$

as  $\mathscr{E}xt_p^1(q^*G,\mathscr{F})$  is a locally free  $\beta$ -twisted vector bundle of rank d-2 < d: recall that  $c^B$  of  $\mathscr{E}xt_p^1(q^*G,\mathscr{F})$  is defined as the Chern class of some untwisted vector bundle of the same rank, hence, as this rank is smaller then the dimension of Y, the d-th B-twisted Chern class is trivial.

We now need to compute  $c_d^B(K_F^{\bullet})$ . To do so, we first recall that by [3] there is locally on Y a complex

$$A^{\bullet} = \cdots \xrightarrow{a_{-1}} A^0 \xrightarrow{a_0} A^1 \xrightarrow{a_1} A^2 \longrightarrow 0$$

of free sheaves such that for every  $\sigma: Y' \longrightarrow Y$  and for every  $j \in \mathbb{Z}$  we have

$$\mathscr{E}xt_{p'}^{j}(\sigma^{*}(q')^{*}F,\sigma^{*}\mathscr{F})\simeq \mathcal{H}^{j}(\sigma^{*}A^{\bullet}),$$

where  $p': Y' \times S \longrightarrow Y'$  and  $q': Y' \times S \longrightarrow S$  are the two projections, and where  $\mathcal{H}^j$  denotes the j-th cohomology of the complex.

Let us now cover Y with open subsets  $U_i$  so that F is contained in only one of them, and let us moreover suppose that the previous complex  $A^{\bullet}$  exists over  $U_i$ . If  $E \in U_i$  and E is not F, then  $\mathcal{H}^j(A^{\bullet})_E = 0$ , hence the rank of all the maps  $a_i$  of the complex  $A^{\bullet}$  is constant on  $Y \setminus \{F\}$ . But we have

$$\mathcal{H}^0(A^{\bullet})_F \simeq \mathcal{H}^0(A^{\bullet})_F \simeq \mathbb{C},$$

hence the rank of  $a_0$  and  $a_1$  at F drops by 1, while the rank of  $a_i$  is constant on Y for  $i \leq -1$ . The same proof of Lemma 4.3 of [21] shows that the degeneracy locus of the  $a_0$  and  $a_1$  is the reduced point F, while  $a_i$  does not degenerate if  $i \leq -1$ .

Let us now consider the blow-up  $\sigma:Z\longrightarrow Y$  of Y at F with reduced structure, and let D be the exceptional divisor on Z. Consider the complex

$$\sigma^* A^{\bullet} = \cdots \xrightarrow{\sigma^* a_{-1}} \sigma^* A^0 \xrightarrow{\sigma^* a_0} \sigma^* A^1 \xrightarrow{\sigma^* a_1} \sigma^* A^2 \longrightarrow 0.$$

The degeneracy locus of  $\sigma^* a_0$  and  $\sigma^* a_1$  is then the exceptional divisor D with reduced structure, while the  $\sigma^* a_i$ 's do not degenerate on Z for  $i \leq -1$ .

The maps  $\sigma^*a_0$  and  $\sigma^*a_1$  hence factor through

$$(A')^0 \xrightarrow{a'_0} \sigma^* A^1 \xrightarrow{a'_1} (A')^2$$

where  $\sigma^* A^0 \subseteq (A')^0$ ,  $(A')^2 \subseteq \sigma^* A^2$ , and the sheaves

$$M := (A')^0 / \sigma^* A^0, \qquad L := \sigma^* A^2 / (A')^2$$

are supported on D. As in the proof of Theorem 4.1 of [21], Step 4, the sheaves L and M are characterized by canonical isomorphisms

$$L \otimes \mathcal{O}_D \simeq Ext^2(F, F) \otimes \mathcal{O}_D, \qquad Tor_1^{\mathcal{O}_D}(M, \mathcal{O}_D) \simeq Hom(F, F) \otimes \mathcal{O}_D.$$

Here the computation is done in a neighborhood of the divisor D.

As in [21], it follows from this that

$$\mathscr{E}xt_{p'}^0(\sigma^*q^*F,\sigma^*\mathscr{F})\simeq \mathcal{O}_D(D), \qquad \mathscr{E}xt_{p'}^2(\sigma^*q^*F,\sigma^*\mathscr{F})\simeq \mathcal{O}_D,$$

viewed as  $\sigma^*\beta$ —twisted sheaves, and that  $\mathscr{E}xt^1_{p'}(\sigma^*q^*F,\sigma^*\mathscr{F})$  is a locally free  $\sigma^*\beta$ —twisted sheaf of rank d-2. It follows that

$$c_d^B(\sigma^* K_F^{\bullet}) = D^d = -1.$$

But remark that

$$c_d^B(\sigma^*K_F^{\bullet}) = \sigma^*c_d^B(K_F^{\bullet}) = \sigma^*c^B(K_G^{\bullet}) = 0,$$

getting a contradiction. In conclusion the moduli space  $M^{\mu}_{\alpha,w}(S,\omega)$  has to be connected.

We can now prove the following result, which is the main result of this section, and which concludes the proof of part (1) of Theorem 1.1:

**Proposition 4.25.** Let S be a K3 surface,  $w = (r, 0, a) \in H^{2*}(S, \mathbb{Z})$  with  $r \geq 2$ ,  $\alpha \in Br(S)$  and  $\omega$  a  $(\alpha, w)$ -generic polarization. Moreover, let  $\xi$  be a representative of  $\alpha$  in  $H^2(S, \mathbb{Z})$  which is prime with r. Consider the relative moduli space of stable twisted sheaves  $p : \mathcal{M} \longrightarrow \mathbb{P}^1$  along the twistor family of  $(S, \omega)$ .

- (1) There is a  $\overline{t} \in \mathbb{P}^1$  such that  $\mathscr{M}_{\overline{t}}$  is an irreducible symplectic manifold which is deformation equivalent to a Hilbert scheme of points on a projective K3 surface S.
- (2) The moduli space  $M^{\mu}_{\alpha,w}(S,\omega)$  is a compact, connected complex manifold which is simply connected and carries a holomorphic symplectic form.

Proof. We let  $\pi: Z(S) \longrightarrow \mathbb{P}^1$  be the twistor family of  $(S, \omega)$ . By [16, Lemma 2.1] there is a  $\overline{t}$  such that  $S_{\overline{t}}$  is a projective K3 surface. The polarization  $\omega_{\overline{t}}$  is  $(\alpha_{\overline{t}}, w)$ —generic, and  $w_{\xi} = v(E_{\xi})$  for some topological vector bundle  $E_{\xi}$ : such a topological vector bundle remains constant along  $\mathbb{P}^1$ , hence  $w_{\xi} = (r, \xi, b)$  where r and  $\xi$  are prime to each other. It follows from Proposition 4.18 that  $M^{\mu}_{\alpha_{\overline{t}}, w}(S_{\overline{t}}, \omega_{\overline{t}})$  is an irreducible symplectic manifold which is deformation equivalent to a Hilbert scheme of points on  $S_{\overline{t}}$ .

By Proposition 4.24, all the fibers are compact, connected manifolds, and by point (a) of Proposition 4.23 the morphism p is submersive. By the Proposition in section 1 of [7], it follows that p is a smooth and proper morphism, hence it is a deformation of  $M_{\alpha,w}^{\mu}(S,\omega)$ , and we are done.

4.6. Moduli spaces of locally free sheaves. The previous results can be largely improved if we suppose something more on  $M_v^{\mu}(S,\omega)$ , namely that it parametrizes only locally free sheaves. However this case has already been considered by differential geometers. We therefore only state the following result and refer the reader to [19] and [20] for the proof.

**Proposition 4.26.** Let S be a K3 surface,  $v = (r, \xi, a)$  a Mukai vector such that r and  $\xi$  are prime to each other, and  $\omega$  a v-generic polarization. Then the open part  $\mathcal{M}^{lf}$  of the relative moduli space  $p : \mathcal{M} \longrightarrow \mathbb{P}^1$  along the twistor family of  $(S, \omega)$ , parameterizing locally free sheaves, is the twistor family of the moduli space  $M_v^{\mu-lf}(S, \omega)$  of  $\omega$ -stable locally free sheaves with Mukai vector v on S.

If morever  $v^2=0$ , a standard argument shows that every sheaf in  $M_v^{\mu}(S,\omega)$  is locally free (see Remark 6.1.9 of [15]), and thus the previous proposition applies to  $M_v^{\mu}(S,\omega)$  which is moreover compact. The next proposition shows that compact moduli spaces of stable locally free sheaves as above may attain any even complex dimension.

**Proposition 4.27.** Let r be a positive integer,  $d \in [0, 2r - 2]$  be an even integer and g be an integer such that  $g \leq -(r^2 - 1)(r - 1)$  and g congruent to  $\frac{d}{2}$  modulo r. Then there exists a K3 surface X with

NS(X) generated by one element  $\xi$  such that  $\xi^2 = 2g - 2$  and there exist torsion-free coherent sheaves E on X of rank r,  $c_1(E) = \xi$  and such that  $2r^2\Delta(E) - 2(r^2 - 1) = d$ . Moreover all such sheaves are locally free and irreducible. In particular they are stable with respect to any polarization on X and their moduli space is a compact irreducible holomorphic symplectic manifold of dimension d.

*Proof.* The existence of K3 surfaces X with cyclic Néron-Severi groups was proved in [24] whereas the existence of torsion-free sheaves E with the above invariants follows from [23, Theorem 2.7]. We shall check that such sheaves are irreducible and locally free. Suppose  $0 \to E_1 \to E \to E_2 \to 0$  is an exact sequence with  $E_i$  coherent sheaves without torsion on X of ranks  $r_i$  and with  $c_1(E_i) = \xi_i$ , (i = 1, 2). Then  $\xi_1 + \xi_2 = \xi$ ,  $r_1 + r_2 = r$  and we directly compute

$$\Delta(E) = \frac{1}{2r} \left(\frac{\xi^2}{r} - \frac{\xi_1^2}{r_1} - \frac{\xi_2^2}{r_2}\right) + \frac{r_1}{r} \Delta(E_1) + \frac{r_2}{r} \Delta(E_2).$$

Since  $g \leq 0$ , X is non-algebraic hence  $\Delta(E_i) \geq 0$  and thus

$$\Delta(E) \ge \frac{1}{2r} \left( \frac{\xi^2}{r} - \frac{\xi_1^2}{r_1} - \frac{\xi_2^2}{r_2} \right) =$$

$$-\frac{1}{2r_1r_2}\left(\frac{r_2\xi}{r}-\xi_2\right)^2 \ge -\frac{\xi^2}{2r^2(r-1)} = \frac{1-g}{(r-1)r^2} > \frac{r^2-1}{r^2} = 1 - \frac{1}{r^2}.$$

But this implies  $d > 2r^2$  which contradicts our choice of d. Hence E is irreducible. If E were not locally free an easy computation would imply that the discriminant of its double dual would be negative: a contradiction to the non-algebraicity of X.

#### 5. The second integral cohomology

We now study the second integral cohomology of  $M_v^{\mu}(S,\omega)$ . We will show that it carries a non-degenerate quadratic form of signature (3,20), and that we have an isometry between  $H^2(M_v^{\mu},\mathbb{Z})$  and  $v^{\perp}$ . If  $M_v^{\mu}(S,\omega)$  is Kähler, it is even a Hodge isometry: as a consequence, we will show that the moduli space is projective if and only if S is projective.

5.0.1. The quadratic form. All along this section we will let  $X := M_v^{\mu}(S, \omega)$  for a choice of a K3 surface S, a Mukai vector  $v = (r, \xi, a)$  with r and  $\xi$  prime to each other, and a v-generic polarization  $\omega$ . We let 2n be its complex dimension. We start by defining a quadratic form on  $H^2(X, \mathbb{C})$  for every holomorphic symplectic form  $\sigma$  on X, by using

the same formula as for the Beauville form of an irreducible symplectic manifold: for every  $\alpha \in H^2(X, \mathbb{C})$ , we let

$$q_{\sigma}(\alpha) := \frac{n}{2} \int_{X} \alpha^{2} \wedge \sigma^{n-1} \wedge \overline{\sigma}^{n-1} \int_{X} \sigma^{n} \wedge \overline{\sigma}^{n} + (1-n) \int_{X} \alpha \wedge \sigma^{n} \wedge \overline{\sigma}^{n-1} \int_{X} \alpha \wedge \sigma^{n-1} \wedge \overline{\sigma}^{n}.$$

Note that the symplectic form is always supposed to be closed so the above definition does not depend on representatives. Note also that  $q_{\sigma}(\sigma + \overline{\sigma}) = (\int_{X} \sigma^{n} \wedge \overline{\sigma}^{n})^{2} \neq 0$  so  $q_{\sigma}$  is non-trivial.

Recall next the definition of the "topological" quadratic form

$$\tilde{q}_X(\alpha) := c_n \int_X \alpha^2 \sqrt{\operatorname{td}(X)}$$

where  $c_n$  is a constant depending only on n chosen so that the form becomes integral on  $H^2(X,\mathbb{Z})$  (see [12], Definition 26.19 in Part III. Compact Hyperkähler Manifolds). It is known that  $q_{\sigma}$  and  $\tilde{q}_X$  are proportional when X is moreover supposed to be Kähler.

We finally define  $\tilde{H}^{2,0} := \operatorname{Im}((\{\tau \in H^0(\Omega^2) \mid d\tau = 0\} \to H^2(X,\mathbb{C}))$  and  $\tilde{h}^{2,0}(X) := \dim \tilde{H}^{2,0}(X)$ . We first prove the following:

**Proposition 5.1.** Let  $p: X \to C$  be a proper submersion of relative dimension 2n over a connected curve C such that there exists a point  $0 \in C$  with  $X_0 := p^{-1}(0)$  irreducible holomorphic symplectic. Suppose moreover that there exists a relative non-degenerate symplectic form  $\sigma \in H^0(X, \Omega^2_{X/C} \otimes p^*L)$  with values in a line bundle L over C. Let  $q_t := q_{\sigma_t}$  be the quadratic form defined by  $\sigma$  on  $H^2(X_t, \mathbb{C})$  for each  $t \in C$ . Then for all  $t \in C$  the quadratic form  $q_t$  is a positive multiple of  $\tilde{q}_{X_0}$ . In particular  $q_t$  is non-degenerate of signature  $(3, b_2(X) - 3)$  and  $\tilde{h}^{2,0}(X_t) = 1$ .

*Proof.* We may suppose that L is the trivial line bundle on C. Indeed, for the general case it will suffice to take trivializations of L over Zariski open subsets of C containing 0.

Fix some  $\alpha \in H^2(X_t, \mathbb{C})$  and define for  $t_1, t_2 \in C$ :

$$q_{t_1,t_2}(\alpha) := \frac{n}{2} \int_X \alpha^2 \wedge \sigma_{t_1}^{n-1} \wedge \overline{\sigma}_{t_2}^{n-1} \int_X \sigma_{t_1}^n \wedge \overline{\sigma}_{t_2}^n + (1-n) \int_X \alpha \wedge \sigma_{t_1}^n \wedge \overline{\sigma}_{t_2}^{n-1} \int_X \alpha \wedge \sigma_{t_1}^{n-1} \wedge \overline{\sigma}_{t_2}^n.$$

(Note again that the above formula does not depend on representatives since the syplectic forms  $\sigma_{t_1}$ ,  $\sigma_{t_2}$  are closed.) This defines a complex function on  $C \times C$  which is holomorphic in  $t_1$  and antiholomorphic

in  $t_2$ . It becomes holomorphic on  $C \times C^-$ , where  $C^-$  denotes the curve C with the opposite complex structure. Over an analytical open neighbourhood U of 0 in C all fibers  $X_t$  are Kähler. Hence for  $t \in U$  the quadratic form  $q_t$  is proportional to  $\tilde{q}$ . Take now  $\alpha, \alpha' \in H^2(X_0, \mathbb{C})$  such that  $q_0(\alpha) \neq 0$ . Then the meromorphic function

$$(t_1, t_2) \mapsto \frac{q_{t_1, t_2}(\alpha')}{q_{t_1, t_2}(\alpha)}$$

on  $C \times C^-$  is constant on the diagonal  $\Delta_U \subset U \times U^- \subset C \times C^-$ . But  $\Delta_U$  is Zariski dense in  $C \times C^-$ . To see this consider the system of local holomorphic curves  $C_t$  on  $C \times C^-$  given as images of the maps  $z \mapsto (t+z,t+\bar{z})$ . Each curve  $C_t$  passes through the reference point  $(t,t) \in \Delta_U$  but its intersection with  $\Delta_U$  is a piece of a "real line". Hence by the principle of isolated zeroes any holomorphic function vanishing locally on  $\Delta_U$  will also vanish on the curves  $C_t$  and thus also on the three dimensional real submanifold of  $C \times C^-$  they cover. Therefore the function  $(t_1,t_2) \mapsto \frac{q_{t_1,t_2}(\alpha')}{q_{t_1,t_2}(\alpha)}$  is constant on  $C \times C^-$ . From this it follows that  $q_t$  is proportional to  $\tilde{q}$  for any  $t \in C$ .

It remains to check that  $\tilde{h}^{2,0}(X_t) = 1$  for all  $t \in C$ . For this we will show that the kernel K of the linear map

$$\{\tau \in H^0(X_t, \Omega^2) \mid d\tau = 0\} \to H^0(X_t, K_{X_t}), \ \tau \mapsto \tau \wedge \sigma^{n-1},$$

consists of d-exact forms only. Let  $b_t$  be the associated bilinear form to  $q_t$ . Then for any  $\tau \in K$  and  $\alpha \in H^2(X_t, \mathbb{C})$  we have

$$b_{t}(\tau,\alpha) = \frac{n}{2} \int_{X} \tau \wedge \alpha \wedge \sigma_{t}^{n-1} \wedge \overline{\sigma}_{t}^{n-1} \int_{X} \sigma_{t}^{n} \wedge \overline{\sigma}_{t}^{n} + \frac{1-n}{2} \int_{X} \tau \wedge \sigma_{t}^{n} \wedge \overline{\sigma}_{t}^{n-1} \int_{X} \alpha \wedge \sigma_{t}^{n-1} \wedge \overline{\sigma}_{t}^{n} + \frac{1-n}{2} \int_{X} \alpha \wedge \sigma_{t}^{n} \wedge \overline{\sigma}_{t}^{n-1} \int_{X} \tau \wedge \sigma_{t}^{n-1} \wedge \overline{\sigma}_{t}^{n} = 0$$

and our assertion follows since  $q_t$  is non-degenerate.

5.0.2. Isometry with  $v^{\perp}$ . We now show that there is an isometry between  $H^2(M_v^{\mu}(S,\omega),\mathbb{Z})$  and  $v^{\perp}$  if  $v^2>0$ , and with  $v^{\perp}/\mathbb{Z} \cdot v$  if  $v^2=0$ .

We introduce some notations. If  $v \in H^{2*}(S,\mathbb{Z})$ , we let  $v^{\perp}$  be the orthogonal of v with respect to the Mukai pairing. If  $v = (r, \xi, a)$  and  $\xi \in NS(S)$ , then the pure weight-two Hodge structure on  $H^{2*}(S,\mathbb{Z})$  induces a pure weight-two Hodge structure on  $v^{\perp}$ : namely, a class  $\alpha = (\alpha_0, \alpha_1, \alpha_2) \in v^{\perp}$  is of (1, 1)—type if and only if  $\alpha_1 \in NS(S)$ .

If  $\alpha = (\alpha_0, \alpha_1, \alpha_2) \in H^{2*}(S, \mathbb{Q})$ , we write  $\alpha^{\vee} := (\alpha_0, -\alpha_1, \alpha_2)$ . If  $\alpha = ch(F)$  for some locally free sheaf F, then  $\alpha^{\vee} = ch(F^{\vee})$ . It is

immediate to see that if  $\alpha, \beta \in H^{2*}(S, \mathbb{Q})$ , then  $(\alpha \cdot \beta)^{\vee} = \alpha^{\vee} \cdot \beta^{\vee}$ . In particular, this implies that  $(\beta/\alpha)^{\vee} = \beta^{\vee}/\alpha^{\vee}$  and  $(\sqrt{\alpha})^{\vee} = \sqrt{\alpha^{\vee}}$ , whenever these expressions make sense.

We now introduce a morphism associating to any class in  $v^{\perp}$  a rational cohomology class on the moduli space of stable (twisted) sheaves. The construction is inspired from the similar morphism which is used in the projective case (see [30], [42], [26], [31]). Let  $\alpha \in Br(S)$ ,  $w \in H^{2*}(S,\mathbb{Q})$  a Mukai vector and  $\omega$  a w-generic polarization. Suppose moreover that  $M^{\mu}_{\alpha,w}(S,\omega)$  is compact, and let  $p: M^{\mu}_{\alpha,w}(S,\omega) \times S \longrightarrow M^{\mu}_{\alpha,w}(S,\omega)$  and  $q: M^{\mu}_{\alpha,w}(S,\omega) \times S \longrightarrow S$  be the projections.

Choosing a quasi-universal family  $\mathscr{E}$  on  $M^{\mu}_{\alpha,w}(S,\omega) \times S$  of similitude  $\rho$  (which exists by Remark 4.22), we define a morphism

$$\lambda_{S,\alpha,w}: w^{\perp} \longrightarrow H^2(M^{\mu}_{\alpha,w}(S,\omega),\mathbb{Q})$$

by letting

$$\lambda_{S,\alpha,w}(\beta) := \frac{1}{\rho} [p_*(q^*(\beta^{\vee} \cdot \sqrt{td(S)}) \cdot ch(\mathscr{E}))]_1,$$

where  $[\cdot]_1$  is the part lying in  $H^2(M^{\mu}_{\alpha,w}(S,\omega),\mathbb{Q})$ . As  $\beta \in w^{\perp}$ , the class  $\lambda_{S,\alpha,w}(\beta)$  does not depend on the chosen quasi-universal family. If  $\alpha = 0$  we simply write  $\lambda_{S,w}$  for  $\lambda_{S,0,w}$ .

We now show the following, which is a generalization of known results in the projective case (see [29], [30], [42]):

**Proposition 5.2.** Let S be a K3 surface,  $v = (r, \xi, a) \in H^{2*}(S, \mathbb{Z})$  where  $r \geq 2$ ,  $\xi \in NS(S)$ ,  $(r, \xi) = 1$  and  $v^2 \geq 0$ . Moreover, let  $\omega$  be a v-generic polarization. Then the image of  $\lambda_{S,v}$  is contained in  $H^2(M_v^{\mu}(S, \omega), \mathbb{Z})$ , and

(1) if  $v^2 = 0$ , then  $\lambda_{S,v}$  defines an isometry

$$\overline{\lambda}_{S,v}: v^{\perp}/\mathbb{Z}\cdot v \longrightarrow H^2(M_v^{\mu}(S,\omega),\mathbb{Z});$$

(2) if  $v^2 > 0$ , then  $\lambda_{S,v}$  is an isometry.

*Proof.* If  $v^2 > 0$ , we just need to show the following properties:

- a) the image of  $\lambda_{S,v}$  is contained in  $H^2(M_v^{\mu}(S,\omega),\mathbb{Z})$ ;
- b) the morphism  $\lambda_{S,v}$  is bijective;
- c) the morphism  $\lambda_{S,v}$  is an isometry.

Let  $\mathscr{E}$  be a quasi-universal family of similitude  $\rho$  on  $M_v^{\mu}(S,\omega) \times S$ , and fix a locally free  $\mu_{\omega}$ -stable vector bundle F of Mukai vector v. Let  $w := v_F(F) = (r, 0, a - \xi^2/2r)$  and

$$f: M_n^{\mu}(S, \omega) \longrightarrow M_{0,w}^{\mu}(S, \omega), \quad f(\mathscr{F}) := \mathscr{F} \otimes F^{\vee}$$

which is an isomorphism (see Remark 4.15).

We let  $q: M_{0,w}^{\mu}(S,\omega) \times S \longrightarrow S$  be the projection, and

$$\mathscr{E}' := (f \times id_S)_* \mathscr{E} \otimes q^* F^{\vee},$$

which is a quasi-universal family of similitude  $\rho$  on  $M_{0,w}^{\mu}(S,\omega) \times S$ . Moreover, as f is an isomorphism, the morphism

$$f_*: H^2(M_v^{\mu}(S,\omega),\mathbb{Z}) \longrightarrow H^2(M_{0,w}^{\mu}(S,\omega),\mathbb{Z})$$

is easily checked to be an isometry.

Now, we let

$$h: H^{2*}(S, \mathbb{Z}) \longrightarrow H^{2*}(S, \mathbb{Q}), \quad h(\beta) := \frac{\beta \cdot ch(F^{\vee})}{\sqrt{ch(F \otimes F^{\vee})}}.$$

We let  $(\cdot, \cdot)_S$  be the Mukai pairing on S and  $[\cdot]_2$  the part lying in  $H^4(S, \mathbb{Q})$ . If  $\beta \in v^{\perp}$  we have

$$(h(\beta), w)_S = -\left[\frac{\beta^{\vee} \cdot ch(F)}{\sqrt{ch(F \otimes F^{\vee})}} \cdot v_F(F)\right]_2 =$$
$$= -[\beta^{\vee} \cdot ch(F) \cdot \sqrt{td(S)}]_2 = (\beta, v)_S = 0,$$

so that

$$h: v^{\perp} \longrightarrow w^{\perp}.$$

The same argument shows that it is an isometry. We even have  $f_*(\lambda_{S,v}(\beta)) = \lambda_{S,w}(h(\beta))$ . Indeed

$$f_*(\lambda_{S,v}(\beta)) = \frac{1}{\rho} [f_* p_* (q^* (\beta^{\vee} \sqrt{td(S)}) \operatorname{ch}(\mathscr{E}))]_1 =$$

$$= \frac{1}{\rho} [p_* ((f \times id_S)_* q^* (\beta^{\vee} \sqrt{td(S)}) \operatorname{ch}(\mathscr{E}'))]_1 =$$

$$= \frac{1}{\rho} [p_* (q^* (h(\beta)^{\vee} \sqrt{td(S)}) \operatorname{ch}(\mathscr{E}'))]_1 = \lambda_{S,w} (h(\beta)).$$

In conclusion, we see that  $\lambda_{S,v}$  verifies the properties a), b) and c) above if and only if  $\lambda_{S,w}$  verifies them.

Now, consider the twistor line of  $(S, \omega)$  and let  $p : \mathcal{M} \longrightarrow \mathbb{P}^1$  be the associated relative moduli space. As we can define  $\lambda_{S,v}$  in a relative way using relative quasi-universal families (which exist by Remark 4.22), properties a), b) and c) above are verified on a fibre if and only if they are verified all along the twistor line. It follows that  $\lambda_{S,w}$  verifies a), b) and c) if and only  $\lambda_{S_t,w_t}$  verifies them for some  $t \in \mathbb{P}^1$ .

As we saw before, there is t such that  $S_t$  is projective, and in this case  $\lambda_{S_t,w_t}$  is an isometry by [43], hence we are done. If  $v^2 = 0$ , the proof is similar: the only difference is about the fact that  $\mathbb{Z} \cdot v$  is the kernel of

 $\lambda_{S,v}$ , which holds in the general case as it holds over a projective K3 surface (see [29]).

An immediate corollary of the previous Proposition is the following:

Corollary 5.3. Let S be a K3 surface,  $v = (r, \xi, a) \in H^{2*}(S, \mathbb{Z})$  where  $\xi \in NS(S)$ ,  $r \geq 2$ ,  $(r, \xi) = 1$  and  $v^2 \geq 0$ . If  $\omega$  is a v-generic polarization and  $M_v^{\mu}(S, \omega)$  is Kähler, then the morphism  $\lambda_v$  is a Hodge isometry.

Theorem 1.2 can now be seen as a corollary of the previous results:

Corollary 5.4. Let S be a K3 surface,  $v = (r, \xi, a) \in H^{2*}(S, \mathbb{Z})$  where  $\xi \in NS(S)$ ,  $r \geq 2$ ,  $(r, \xi) = 1$  and  $v^2 \geq 0$ . If  $\omega$  is a v-generic polarization, then  $M_v^{\mu}(S, \omega)$  is projective if and only if S is projective.

*Proof.* First, notice that if S is projective, then  $M_v^{\mu}(S,\omega)$  is projective by Theorem 3.4.

Suppose now that S is not projective, we want to prove that  $M_v^{\mu}(S,\omega)$  is not projective as well. Suppose that  $M_v^{\mu}(S,\omega)$  is projective: in particular this implies that it is Kähler, hence by part (1) of Theorem 1.1 it follows that it is an irreducible symplectic manifold.

Recall that an irreducible symplectic manifold X is projective if and only if there is a line bundle L on X such that q(L) > 0, where q is the Beauville form of X (see [14]). Hence there is a line bundle L on  $M_v^{\mu}(S,\omega)$  such that q(L) > 0, where q is the Beauville form on  $M_v^{\mu}(S,\omega)$ , which coincides with the non-degenerate quadratic form we defined in the previous section.

Moreover, by Corollary 5.3, as  $M_v^{\mu}(S,\omega)$  is Kähler we have that  $\lambda_v$  is a Hodge isometry. There is then  $\alpha \in v^{\perp}$  of type (1,1) (with respect to the Hodge structure on  $v^{\perp}$ ) such that  $\lambda_v(\alpha) = c_1(L)$ , and  $(\alpha,\alpha)_S > 0$ .

Let us now describe  $v^{\perp} \otimes \mathbb{Q}$ . First, an element  $(0, \zeta, b) \in \widetilde{H}(S, \mathbb{Q})$  is in  $v^{\perp} \otimes \mathbb{Q}$  if and only if  $b = \zeta \cdot \xi$ . As  $(0, \zeta, \zeta \cdot \xi) = e^{\xi/r} \cdot (0, \zeta, 0)$ , we have

$$e^{\xi/r} \cdot H^2(S, \mathbb{Q}) \subseteq v^{\perp}.$$

It is easy to see that  $e^{\xi/r} \cdot (2r^2, 0, v^2) \in v^{\perp} \otimes \mathbb{Q}$ , hence

$$e^{\xi/r} \cdot \mathbb{Q}(2r^2, 0, v^2) \subseteq v^{\perp} \otimes \mathbb{Q}.$$

This implies that

$$v^{\perp} \otimes \mathbb{Q} = e^{\xi/r} \cdot (H^2(S, \mathbb{Q}) \oplus \mathbb{Q}(2r^2, 0, v^2)),$$

so that the (1,1)-part  $(v^{\perp})^{1,1}$  of  $v^{\perp} \otimes \mathbb{Q}$  is

$$(v^{\perp})^{1,1} = e^{\xi/r} \cdot (NS_{\mathbb{Q}}(S) \oplus \mathbb{Q}(2r^2, 0, v^2)),$$

where  $NS_{\mathbb{Q}}(S) := NS(S) \otimes \mathbb{Q}$ .

The direct sum is orthogonal with respect to the Mukai pairing, and it is easy to see that

$$(e^{\xi/r}(2r^2, 0, v^2))^2 = -4r^2v^2 \le 0,$$

as  $v^2 \geq 0$ . Moreover, as S is non-projective the lattice  $e^{\xi/r}NS_{\mathbb{Q}}(S)$  is negative semi-definite. It follows that  $(v^{\perp})^{1,1}$  is negative semi-definite, hence for every  $\alpha \in (v^{\perp})^{1,1}$  we have  $(\alpha, \alpha)_S \leq 0$ , which is not possible. In conclusion, if S is not projective, the moduli space cannot be projective, and we are done.

#### References

- [1] Aprodu, M., Moraru, R., Toma, M.: Two-dimensional moduli spaces of vector bundles over Kodaira surfaces. *Adv. Math.* **231** (2012), 1202-1215.
- [2] Bănică, C., Le Potier, J.: Sur l'existence des fibrés vectoriels holomorphes sur les surfaces non-algébriques. J. Reine Angew. Math. 378 (1987), 1–31.
- [3] Bănică, C., Putinar, M., Schumacher, C.: Variation der globalen Ext in Deformationen kompakter komplexer Räume. *Math. Ann.* **250** (1980), 135–156.
- [4] Beauville, A.: Variétés kähleriennes dont la première classe de Chern est nulle. J. Differential Geometry 18 (1983), 755–782.
- [5] Buchweitz, R.-O., Flenner, H.: The Atiyah-Chern character yields the semiregularity map as well as the infinitesimal Abel-Jacobi map. *The arithmetic and geometry of algebraic cycles (Banff, AB, 1998)*, 33–46, CRM Proc. Lecture Notes **24**, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI (2000).
- [6] Căldăraru, A. H.: Derived category of twisted sheaves on Calabi-Yau manifolds. PhD thesis.
- [7] Ehresmann, C.: Les connexions infinitésimales dans un espace fibré différentiable. Séminaire N. Bourbaki, 1948-1951, exp. n. 24, 153–168.
- [8] Fujiki, A.: Countability of the Douady space of a complex space. *Japan. J. Math. (N.S.)* **5** (1979), 431-447.
- [9] Fujiki, A.: On primitively symplectic compact Kähler V-manifolds of dimension four. *Classification of algebraic and analytic manifolds (Katata, 1982)*, 71-250, Progr. Math., **39**, Birkhäuser Boston, Boston, MA (1983).
- [10] Fujiki, A.: On the Douady space of a compact complex space in the category C. II. Publ. Res. Inst. Math. Sci. 20 (1984), 461-489.
- [11] Greb, D., Toma, M.: Compact moduli spaces for slope-semistable sheaves on higher-dimensional projective manifolds. arXiv:1303.2480.
- [12] Gross, M., Huybrechts, D., Joyce, D.: Calabi-Yau manifolds and related geometries. Universitext, Berlin, New York, Springer-Verlag (2003).
- [13] Hitchin, N., Karlhede, A., Lindström, U., Roček, M.: Hyperkähler Metrics and Supersymmetry. Comm. Math. Phys. 108 (1987), 535–589.
- [14] Huybrechts, D.: Compact hyper-Kähler manifolds: basic results. *Invent. Math.* **135** (1999), 63–113.
- [15] Huybrechts, D., Lehn, M.: The Geometry of Moduli Spaces of Sheaves. *Aspects of Mathematics E* **31**, Vieweg Verlag (1997).
- [16] Huybrechts, D., Schröer, S.: The Brauer group of analytic K3 surfaces. Int. Math. Res. Not. 50 (2003), 2687–2698.

- [17] Huybrechts, D., Stellari, P.: Equivalences of twisted K3 surfaces. *Math. Ann.* 332, vol. 4, (2005), 901–936
- [18] Huybrechts, D., Stellari, P.: Proof of Căldăraru's conjecture. An appendix to a paper by Yoshioka. *Adv. Stud. in Pure Math.* **45** (2006), 31–42.
- [19] Itoh, M.: Quaternion structure on the moduli space of Yang-Mills connections. *Math. Ann.* **276**, 581-593.
- [20] Itoh, M., Nakajima, H.: Yang-Mills connections and Einstein-Hermitian metrics. Adv. Stud. in Pure Math. 18-II (1990), 395-457.
- [21] Kaledin, D., Lehn, M., Sorger, C.: Singular symplectic moduli spaces. *Invent. Math.* 164 (2006), 591–614.
- [22] Kosarew, S., Okonek, C.: Global moduli spaces and simple holomorphic bundles. *Publ. Res. Inst. Math. Sci.* **25** (1989), 1–19.
- [23] Kurihara, K., Yoshioka, K.: Holomorphic vector bundles on non-algebraic tori of dimension 2. Manuscripta Math. 126 (2008), no. 2, 143–166.
- [24] Le Potier, J.: Simple connexité des surfaces K3. Astérisque 126 (1985), 79-90.
- [25] Lieblich, M.: Moduli of twisted sheaves. Duke Math. J. 138 (2007), no. 1, 23–118.
- [26] Markman, E.: On the monodromy of moduli spaces of sheaves on K3 surfaces. J. Alg. Geom. 17 (2008), 29–99.
- [27] Markman, E.: The Beauville-Bogomolov class as a characteristic class. arXiv:1105.3223 [math.AG].
- [28] Mukai, S.: Symplectic structure of the moduli space of sheaves on an abelian or K3 surface. *Invent. Math.* **77** (1984), 101–116.
- [29] Mukai, S.: On the moduli of bundles on K3 surfaces, I. In M. F. Atiyah and others, *Vector bundles on algebraic varieties*, Bombay colloquium 1984, Tata Institute for fundamental research studies in mathematics **11** (1987), 341–413.
- [30] O'Grady, K.: The weight-two Hodge structure of moduli spaces of sheaves on a K3 surface. J. Alg. Geom. 6 (1997), no. 4, 599–644.
- [31] Perego, A., Rapagnetta, A.: Deformations of the O'Grady moduli spaces. *J. reine angew. Math.* **678** (2013), 1–34.
- [32] Simpson, C. T.: Moduli of representations of the fundamental group on a smooth projective variety I. Pub. Math. de l'I.H.É.S. **79** (1994), 47–129.
- [33] Teleman, A., Toma, M.: Holomorphic vector bundles on non-algebraic surfaces. C. R. Math. Acad. Sci. Paris 334 (2002), no. 5, 383-388.
- [34] Toma, M.: Holomorphic vector bundles on non-algebraic surfaces. *Dissertation*, Bayreuth (1992).
- [35] Toma, M.: Stable bundles with small  $c_2$  over 2-dimensional complex tori. *Math.* Z. **232** (1999), 511–525.
- [36] Toma, M.: Compact moduli spaces of stable sheaves over non-algebraic surfaces. *Documenta Math.* **6** (2001), 11–29.
- [37] Toma, M.: Bounded sets of sheaves on compact Kähler manifolds. *J. reine.* angew. Math. **710** (2016), 77–93.
- [38] Toma, M.: Bounded sets of sheaves on compact Kähler manifolds, II. In preparation.
- [39] Verbitsky, M., Hyperholomorphic sheaves and new examples of hyperkähler manifolds, In: Kaledin, D., Verbitsky, M., Hyperkahler Manifolds, Math. Phys. (Somerville), 12, International Press, Somerville, 1999.

- [40] Verbitsky, M., Coherent sheaves on general K3 surfaces and tori, Pure Appl. Math. Q. 4 (2008) 651-714.
- [41] Wang, S., Objective B-fields and a Hitchin-Kobayashi correspondence. *Trans. Amer. Math. Soc.* **364** (2012), no. 4, 2087-2107.
- [42] Yoshioka, K.: Irreducibility of moduli spaces of vector bundles on K3 surfaces. arXiv:math/9907001.
- [43] Yoshioka, K.: Moduli spaces of twisted sheaves on a projective variety. Adv. Stud. Pure Math. 45 (2006), 1–30.

Institut Élie Cartan, UMR 7502, Université de Lorraine, CNRS, INRIA, Boulevard des Aiguillettes, B.P. 70239, 54506 Vandoeuvre-lès-Nancy Cedex, France

Arvid.Perego@univ-lorraine.fr Matei.Toma@univ-lorraine.fr